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In the face of a child, you see a vision of the future.
You see a sense of potential, a sense of growth and a sense of limitless achievement.
We see a future filled with opportunity as today’s potential becomes tomorrow’s success.
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We have raised our sights, setting our vision upon being the preeminent
health and well-being enterprise. Now, that vision is being shaped into
reality — a reality that will be strategically distinctive and enduring
in value to our customers, consumers, investors and our people.
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William W. McGuire, M . D ., president, chairman and C E O
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To O u r S h a r e h o l d e r s

The last decade has been an extraordinary period for UnitedHealth
Group. Grounded in a belief that expanding access to appropriate
health care would provide value to individuals and populations, this
company is approaching nearly $20 billion in revenue while serving
more than 50 million Americans. Such growth arises from our
commitment to innovation, to change, to realizing value for customers,
and to working cooperatively within the world’s finest health care
system. Our growth reflects a constant view to the future, a willingness
to challenge the status quo, and the capacity to lead.
That heritage was obvious in 1998, one of the most important years
in the history of UnitedHealth Group — a year marked by dramatic
and new directions in our continued evolution as a company. We
experienced 47 percent growth in revenues, 16 percent growth in core
operating earnings, and 57 percent growth in operating cash flows to
more than $1 billion. In 1998, our strong move to serve older
Americans through Medicare health plans suffered from an
executional setback that altered our momentum and called into
question our operating strengths. Accordingly, we have taken dramatic
actions to restore the profitability of our Medicare products in
geographic markets that we believe can be served profitably and
expanded as the privatization of Medicare evolves. That significant
setback will eventually come to be seen as a short-term issue in an
otherwise dynamic and extraordinarily successful year.
We implemented important strategic and operational changes in
1998, all with the goal of transforming our significant assets and
market positions to become the market-defining, diversified health
and well-being services enterprise. An important step was to create a
powerful market-facing operating model with naturally embedded
performance disciplines and accountabilities that establishes the
foundation for greater and more diversified growth in the next
decade. Emerging from this effort are five distinct operating
companies — UnitedHealthcare, Ovations, Uniprise, Specialized Care
Services and Ingenix, which are now or are expected to become multibillion dollar revenue companies.
These companies approach a diverse set of business opportunities
with fully dedicated resources, capital and the ability to leverage the
assets of UnitedHealth Group and its individual operating units. Each
market is substantive, yet each has a potential that has been only partially
touched. In these business segments, we have established the platforms
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for future growth and superior returns. The accomplishments of these
individual companies in 1998 underscore this further:
•

UnitedHealthcare realized excellent growth, profitability and cash

flows in its commercial and small group segments. We strengthened
our balance sheet within this segment and made, by far, the greatest
advances in addressing our cost structure. Our Medicare product
offering was dramatically repositioned in terms of markets, benefit
design and network contractual terms and strategies. We believe that
these steps restore our Medicare profit potential. UnitedHealthcare
is well positioned, and we have high expectations for 1999.
•

In 1998, we established Ovations, a completely new business

segment serving older Americans. Ovations successfully transitioned and
integrated the largest single block of health insurance in history — the
$3.5 billion, 4 million member AARP Medicare supplement and hospital
indemnity insurance program. It was a transition so well executed that it
has gone virtually unnoticed, other than for its significant contributions
to our revenues and profits and the high-profile standing Ovations now
enjoys in this vast and growing marketplace.
•

Uniprise enjoyed an exceptional year in terms of growth, new

relationships and profitability within Uniprise Strategic Solutions.
Through this segment, we continued to significantly advance the
performance of our complex customer services operations and to
develop and deploy the industry’s most advanced systems.
•

The businesses of Specialized Care Services — United Behavioral

Health, Optum and United Resource Networks — had exceptional
®

performances across the board in growth and profitability and in
advancing their strategic market positions. We are adding to this
portfolio in 1999 with dental and vision offerings.
•

In another sphere, Ingenix literally created itself in 1998, assembling

the knowledge and information platform we now will integrate and
profitably build upon.
In addition to strategic and organizational steps, 1998 was a year
when we significantly began the task of strengthening our financial
position and improving our return on equity through actions such as
redemption of our convertible preferred stock, entry into the
commercial debt marketplace, and the near completion of our initial
10 percent share repurchase program. Our return on equity
increased from 10 percent to 12 percent, and we have clear
opportunity, capacity and commitment to improve our return level
even more dramatically in 1999 and 2000. We are committed to the
dual mandates of growth and superior return on capital.
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In 1998, we also refocused on the fundamental and detailed
disciplines of cost reduction and control, and we embarked on a
comprehensive effort to drive greater quality, consumer- and provideroriented service, and cost-effective productivity through the core
operating processes of our UnitedHealthcare and Uniprise businesses.
I have made 1999 the year of delivering on commitments. We
started several important efforts in 1998 that will make valuable and
enduring contributions to the markets we serve, to our investors and to
our people. In 1999 we will see these efforts through. We will execute at
an exceptional level — with our own goals set well above the
expectations of those who follow and depend on our performance.
1999 will set the stage for an era of diverse growth and prosperity as our
business segments pursue their markets and bring to them innovation
and creativity for growth and aggressive performance disciplines. We
will continue to manage our financial affairs prudently with an eye to
consistent and improved shareholder return and value.
Our vision is to be the preeminent health and well-being
enterprise. This means advancing the evolution of one of the largest,
most diverse, sophisticated and fastest growing of all markets. It is an
environment that will favor and reward companies with great assets,
strong financial positions, operational focus and resultant cost
structure advantage, and strategies oriented to the customer and the
market dynamics. That is why the legacy of UnitedHealth Group,
coupled with our actions in 1998, is so relevant. Our commitment is
to perform consistently at a level that places us among the elite of
American business, regardless of industry, and to bring that level of
performance and leadership into the health services market.
On behalf of UnitedHealth Group, I thank you for your support.
Together with our people, I look forward to achieving these results
and realizing greater returns for you, our shareholders.
Sincerely,

William W. McGuire, M.D.
President, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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performance in each market.

Our operating model compels each of our businesses to focus, looking to innovate, to grow and to achieve premier competitive

Focus

UnitedHealth Group
UnitedHealth Group should be viewed from two perspectives.
See us in total – large, established and vastly capable – a market- and industryshaping force. We have expanded our focus to broader, more diverse markets and
have created an organizational framework to pursue their potential. The reasoning is
straightforward: to give our diverse businesses the autonomy and resources needed to
perform in a changing, opportunity-rich marketplace.
Now view us as responsive and entrepreneurial, composed of independently
managed yet strategically linked businesses. Our principal operating businesses are
UnitedHealthcare, Ovations, Uniprise, Specialized Care Services and Ingenix. In
addition, we have created two companies – Unimerica and UnitedHealth Capital –
that play significant roles in our day-to-day activities and our future. All of these
businesses have come into being for three critically important reasons.
Focus – The vast health and well-being frontier has multiple market segments,
each with unique needs and potential. Our organization compels each business to
focus on the needs of its markets.
Growth – Our structure enables each business to maximize opportunities
vertically within primary markets and expand horizontally into naturally adjacent
market spaces.
Value – Our businesses are accountable for the resources they use, their
performance, their interdependent strategic role, and the contribution they make to
shareholder value. With each business accountable for its performance, each
concentrates on delivering exceptional quality and service, fostering growth and
innovation, enhancing margins, and improving returns on invested capital.
All of our businesses are led by talented, broadly experienced executives and
supported by a compact, strategically focused corporate organization. Through these
people, this structure and the core assets of our company, we believe the future of
UnitedHealth Group will be exceptional.
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Business Description
UnitedHealthcare operates locally
based organized health systems in
more than 40 geographic markets
nationally, and provides management
consulting services in selected international markets.

Products and Services
•

UnitedHealthcare Choice and Choice Plus

•

UnitedHealthcare Select and Select Plus

•

UnitedHealthcare Options PPO

•

Medicare+Choice plans

•

Medicaid health systems

•

Pharmacy benefit plans

•

Disease-specific medical management programs

•

Global consulting and
management services

•

Medicare supplement, Medicare Select, hospital
indemnity and pharmacy services for AARP health
insurance program members.

•

Services for frail elderly nursing home
residents through EverCare®

Uniprise provides employee solutions
for large organizations with 5,000 or
more employees, including benefits
design and implementation, largevolume transaction processing and
customer services.

•

Benefits design and implementation

•

Administrative services: enrollment, member eligibility, claim processing, document issuance and
billing and banking

•

Member services: care management, customer
service, telephonic information, provider
directories, ID cards and plan descriptions

Specialized Care Services is a portfolio
of companies offering highly specialized
benefits, networks, services and
resources to improve health and wellbeing.∑

•

United Behavioral Health: mental health/substance
abuse and employee assistance services

•

Optum®: consumer health and well-being information products and services via telephone, print,
audiotape and the Internet

•

United Resource Networks: disease management
and transplant-related products and services

Ovations offers health and well-being
services for Americans age 50 and older.

Ingenix delivers knowledge and
information products and services to
all participants in the health care
marketplace.

•

Software data and services
– databases and data management
– cost and utilization analysis software
– HEDIS reporting
– fraud and abuse services
– claims editing software
– reimbursement system audits
Pharmaceutical and related services
– clinical trial services
– cost and outcome studies
Publishing and publications

•

Consulting

•

∑
•

Unimerica is comprised of UnitedHealth
Group’s insurance affiliates and provides
insurance products on behalf of other
UnitedHealth Group business. The
results of this insurance business are
reported in the unit that originates the
business, not in Unimerica.
UnitedHealth Capital provides venture
capital investment and management
for start-up and early-stage companies
that operate in the arena of health and
well-being.
8

Life and health-related insurance and
reinsurance products and services

Investment funds:
•

Validus Limited Partnership

•

HLM VII Limited Partnership

•

HLM/UH Limited Partnership

Customer Segments Served

Future Business Opportunities

•

Small group employers

•

Middle market employers with up to
5,000 employees

•

Large, single-site employers

•

Medicare-eligible individuals

UnitedHealthcare expects commercial
revenue growth of 7% to 10% nationally
in 1999 and intends to capitalize on
strong demand globally
for U.S. experience and expertise in
improving health care delivery systems.

•

Medicaid-eligible individuals

Number of Customers

1998 Revenues

•

7.6 million commercial enrollees

$12 billion

•

440,000 Medicare-eligible
individuals

•

635,000 Medicaid-eligible
individuals

∑

∑

Individuals age 50 and older

Ovations is designing new services
around improving affordability of
prescription drugs, helping older
Americans remain in their homes,
and enhancing the experience of
being a grandparent.

4 million individuals

$3.6 billion

•

Multi-site employers with more than 5,000
employees, including corporations,
governments and labor organizations

244 large employers, including 134
Fortune 500 companies, representing 5.7 million individuals

$1.6 billion

•

Third-party insurers and service
providers, including other UnitedHealth
Group businesses

Uniprise will seek to extend services
to include other high-volume,
knowledge-based, third-party
processing services.

•

Employers
Payers

•

Individuals ∑

United Behavioral Health serves
more than 14 million individuals
Optum services are available to more
than 15 million individuals
United Resource Networks serves
450 clients representing more than
37 million individuals

$620 million

•

•

More than 100,000 health care
providers

$185 million

•

1,500 payers

•

100 Fortune 500 companies

∑

Specialized Care Services will explore
building businesses around chronic
disease management, vision care, dental
care and various medical specialties.∑

•

•

∑

•

•

Health care providers

•

Payers

•

Employers

•

Governments

•

Pharmaceutical manufacturers

•

Device manufacturers

Ingenix has significant potential for
expansion in all existing product lines:
the pharmaceutical services market is
growing 20% to 25% annually, revenues
for health publications products are
growing 15% annually, and the demand
for data, software and services is growing
20% to 25% annually.
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Our Companies

UnitedHealthcare
UnitedHealthcare organizes and coordinates health and well-being services within
the commercial, Medicare and Medicaid market segments. Through more than
40 nationally managed but locally based health service systems, UnitedHealthcare
integrates benefit offerings with independent, strategically constructed provider
delivery networks, all coordinated with consumer and provider administrative
support services.
The company serves nearly 9 million people as members of its health
systems. On behalf of those members, the company arranges for access to care
with more than 320,000 physicians and 3,500 hospitals across 44 U.S. markets
and four international markets.
UnitedHealthcare helps its members achieve optimal health and wellbeing results by:
•

Designing the most innovative, consumer-oriented health benefit

offerings that value consumer choice and control in accessing health care.
•

Simplifying access to care by coordinating disparate health care resources

and services in a convenient and seamless manner.
•

Providing cost-effective access to quality, convenient health care delivery

networks.
•

Sponsoring consumer-focused disease management programs, where

UnitedHealthcare can promote effective, experience-based quality of care
practice patterns that help inform both consumers and physicians.
•

Promoting education programs and incentive pricing strategies, where

UnitedHealthcare can help its member-consumers understand health care
needs and participate in access and buying decisions.
•

Delivering convenient, consumer-oriented health benefit administration

and support services.
These tightly integrated attributes make UnitedHealthcare the most
progressive health services company in the world. It is a company that creates
enormous marketplace value by helping people achieve optimal health and
well-being results at fair costs, with simplified access to the right care, respect
for individual choice and control, and support through the most advanced
information and administrative support services in the health services field.
The constancy of our focus to this mission has allowed us to achieve a
five-year compound growth rate of more than 40 percent and to advance to
perhaps the strongest competitive and financial position in the entire health
services marketplace. Yet we believe significant potential remains to improve the
effectiveness of health care delivery systems on behalf of people who use and
pay for these services. With strategically designed networks, sophisticated use
of information and a consumer-oriented focus to the coordination of services,
UnitedHealthcare is well positioned for growth and success for years to come.
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UnitedHealthcare serves nearly 9 million individuals, one at a time, with products and
services matched to their needs. Continuing to do so and extending our expertise worldwide is
an unrivaled opportunity to build value.
Jeannine M. Rivet, chief executive officer, UnitedHealthcare
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Our prosperity will come through an innovative focus on serving the
health and well-being needs of older Americans, the fastest growing
population within the United States.
Lois Quam, chief executive officer, Ovations
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O vat i o n s
Ovations is an excellent example of how the UnitedHealth Group
realignment cultivates businesses with the skills and resources needed to serve
specific market segments.
Ovations serves the community of Americans age 50 and older — the fastest
growing portion of the U.S. population. Currently, 73 million Americans are
age 50 and older. In two decades that community will explode to 114 million.
Every year 4 million baby boomers turn 50, embarking on one of life’s
most complex, demanding and opportunity-rich passages. Ovations, which
provides health and well-being services to about 4 million older Americans, is
one of the largest companies dedicated to serving their needs.
In January of 1998, Ovations began providing the largest single offering
of health insurance benefits available to older Americans through AARP’s
health insurance program. AARP is America’s largest membership
organization with more than 30 million members. Ovations provides
members with Medigap insurance; Medicare Select, a new product that offers
seniors a hospital network and 24-hour health information; a Medicare
supplement pharmacy service; and hospital indemnity insurance plans.
This product array is simply the beginning. The AARP relationship
provides an ample, timely window of opportunity to develop and offer a vast
array of new health and well-being products.
Ovations views the market in terms of life stages — serving people
according to major life events, needs and aspirations — thus emphasizing
people above products. Ovations believes this expansive view of the market
and its segments stands in contrast to those who would sub-segment older
Americans by age, matching products to generalized needs of people in their
50s, 60s or older.
For example, AARP research shows that fully 80 percent of baby boomers
intend to continue working after “retirement,” in part because they have
never been sedentary at any life passage, but also because Medicare, Social
Security and individual savings will not meet their lifestyle goals. Ovations
plans to develop a comprehensive set of services tailored to people enjoying
this new, more active stage of life.
Growth will also arise from existing platforms such as Ovations’
EverCare® business. EverCare arranges for the delivery of medical services to
more than 10,000 frail, elderly residents in nursing homes. The service helps
people and their families, gives them wider choice, and enhances the level of
primary and preventative care, improving quality of life.
In addition, Ovations will continue to explore profitable opportunities to
improve the affordability of services not covered by Medicare — to help older
Americans live in their homes, expand options for assisted living and adult
daytime care, and enhance the experience of being a grandparent.
Ovations is our doorway to the enormous, underserved market of
Americans age 50 and older. We intend to celebrate and serve this rich and
rewarding stage of life.
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Uniprise
Uniprise is devoted to serving the needs of large employers and their
employees. The company can assemble all of the elements large and complex
organizations need to offer high quality, affordable health and benefit
services to employees and their families.
As a competitive enterprise, Uniprise cultivates, leverages and integrates
four core competencies: leading-edge employee benefits knowledge and
experience, with expertise in health services; accurate, rapid and high quality
processing of complex, large-volume transactions; technology innovation;
and client service. Each of these competencies responds to chronic market
needs of large employers and presents attractive growth opportunities. Today,
Uniprise serves more than 240 large organizations representing 5.7 million
employees and their dependents, as well as federal government agencies,
state governments and, on a business-to-business basis, health insurers and
health care providers.
Uniprise also continues to expand its employer and employee services
toward complementary service areas through acquisition and internal
development efforts. Uniprise is dedicated to continuous advancement in
productivity and cost-effectiveness — leading to greater value, higher service
and quality, and lower costs for clients. Working with UnitedHealthcare,
Uniprise is reinventing its core transaction processes on an end-to-end basis.
This effort should dramatically advance quality, improve consumer
interaction and reduce operating costs. In this effort, Uniprise will harness
Internet functionality as a means to deliver health services more efficiently
and with significantly lower cost.
We want the name, Uniprise, to symbolize a universe of enterprise-wide
service solutions — an enterprise that offers a broad and valuable spectrum of
integrated employer and employee products and services through one
efficient and unified source.

Specialized Care Services
The fact that the health and well-being market is shaped by diverse demands
and diverse avenues of supply is central to the UnitedHealth Group business
model. Specialized Care Services is an expanding portfolio of companies,
each dedicated to offering a unique blend of benefits, provider networks,
services and resources matched to the needs of a specific market segment.
United Behavioral Health In any given year, nearly a quarter of the U.S.
population experiences mental health problems. That translates to almost $90
billion in treatment costs and more than $270 billion in indirect costs. In that
vast market, United Behavioral Health is an acknowledged, innovative leader,
serving more than 14 million members with mental health and substance
abuse services.
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We will grow profitably by transforming our core competencies into a
virtually limitless array of enterprise solutions.
R. Channing Wheeler, chief executive officer, Uniprise
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The health and well-being marketplace is not homogeneous – either
as a consumer market or in the delivery and distribution of care.
Indeed, this very diversity underpins the powerful growth potential
of Specialized Care Services.
Ronald B. Colby, chief executive officer, Specialized Care Services
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Optum

®

Optum is UnitedHealth Group’s most advanced consumer

services company. Optum helps improve health and well-being through
consumer-oriented information and support services, backed by expertise and
distinguished by easy access for consumers. Optum’s products and services,
such as Optum Care24, Care24 Connect, Optum NurseLine, Optum Health
Forums, and the Taking Care newsletter, are available to more than 15
million people. In 1998, the company responded to more than 29 million
requests, connecting people with nurses, counselors and community
resources. Optum will continue to grow by extending services to a variety of
markets, and tailoring services to consumers age 50 and older via Ovations.
United Resource Networks United Resource Networks provides access to
the nation’s leading organ transplant medical delivery systems. It has created
and maintains a nationally recognized network of transplant programs, which
has improved organ transplant outcomes at savings of more than 30 percent
per transplant episode compared to industry standard costs.
Enrollment in United Resource Networks has expanded almost 70
percent, referrals have doubled and transplants have virtually doubled in the
past three years. We expect to add other specialty networks in the areas of
oncology, cardiology, hepatology, pulmonology, nephrology, catastrophic
trauma and neonatal care, where our expertise will enhance access to
provider services and help improve patient outcomes.
Opportunities for additional businesses built on the Specialized Care
Services model abound. The company has now added a dental platform and is
introducing a vision care enterprise as well as life and accident insurance.
These businesses will further leverage UnitedHealth Group’s group benefits
distribution. Additionally, Specialized Care Services senses broad, developing
opportunities in serving the needs of individuals, including collaborating with
Ovations to meet the needs of the rapidly growing market of older Americans.

Ingenix
UnitedHealth Group companies are closely and strategically related. They can
exert powerful, synergistic leverage. Perhaps the best example is Ingenix.
Ingenix is chartered to accelerate the transformation of information into
knowledge, providing products and services that promote advancement in the
health and well-being markets. Pharmaceutical companies, payers and
providers of health care services, governments and corporations are increasingly
interested in understanding critical aspects of the health care marketplace.
We see virtually limitless growth and prosperity from the contributions we can
make to serving the information needs of this vast market.
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Few enterprises can respond to this need as we can with our enormous
bank of information, or have our unique expertise in analyzing that resource.
As a result, we are in a position to advance the changing dynamics of the
market, whether it be in drug and device research, meeting the enormous
market appetite for data and health informatics, or providing the tools and
services needed to improve performance for payers, providers or any
organization that deals in the health care industry. We are well positioned to
grow and profit from serving their needs in four primary markets.
Software, Data and Services Each year billions are spent on health
care-related software, data and services, and the overall market appears to be
growing by as much as 30 percent annually. Ingenix provides services that assist
customers with the processes, reporting, analysis, profiling, modeling and
databases that help improve quality, control costs and manage benefit delivery.
Publishing Ingenix offers information on coding, reimbursement,
billing, compliance and general health care issues in both print and
electronic media. We are expanding into pharmaceutical and other
specialized information areas.
Pharmaceutical and Related Services Ingenix helps pharmaceutical and
medical device manufacturers develop and bring products to market more
quickly. Estimated at some $40 billion annually, this market offers dramatic,
global growth potential.
Consulting Ingenix consultants address a broad array of development,
delivery and management issues for health system participants.
Ingenix is a next-generation enterprise dedicated to ensuring the
continuing advancement of more effective health care products and services
and making health care a more progressive, more efficient marketplace for
people who need care and those who provide care.
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Information is a strategic asset of the future. Our information resources,
combined with our experience and analytical expertise, offer unmatched
opportunities to create value in the markets we serve and generate
profitable growth.
Kevin H. Roché, chief executive officer, Ingenix
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Pursuing vast opportunities, each business will drive performance and enhance results to create measurable value.

Perform

Financial Review

We have established an operating framework and discipline that is
more highly accountable for performance consistency, asset
management, capital return and balanced and diversified growth.
Distinct operating segments give greater value recognition to the
diverse businesses that have been embedded within our company.
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Financial Highlights

UnitedHealth Group

(in millions, except per share data)

Consolidated Operating Results
Revenues
Earnings (Loss) From Operations
Net Earnings (Loss) Before
Extraordinary Gain
Extraordinary Gain on Sale of
Subsidiary, net of income tax effects
Net Earnings (Loss)
Convertible Preferred Stock Dividends
Preferred Stock Redemption Premium
Net Earnings (Loss) Applicable to
Common Shareholders
Basic Net Earnings (Loss) per
Common Share
Basic Net Earnings (Loss) per Common
Share Before Extraordinary Gain
Extraordinary Gain
Basic Net Earnings (Loss) per
Common Share
Diluted Net Earnings (Loss) per
Common Share
Diluted Net Earnings (Loss) per Common
Share Before Extraordinary Gain
Extraordinary Gain
Diluted Net Earnings (Loss) per
Common Share
Basic Weighted-Average Number of
Common Shares Outstanding
Weighted-Average Number of Common
Shares Outstanding, Assuming Dilution

1998

1997

For the Year Ended December 31,
1996

1995

1994

$ 17,355
$
(42)1

$ 11,794
$ 742

$ 10,074
$ 581 2

$ 5,671
$ 461 3

$ 3,769
$ 506

$

$

$

$

286

$

–
286 3
(7)
–

1,3775
$ 1,665
–
–

$

(166)
–
(166)1
(28)
(20)

$

460
–
460
(29)
–

$

356
–
356 2
(29)
–

$

2884

(214)1

$

431

$

327

$

279

$ 1,665

$ (1.12)
–

$

2.30
–

$

1.80
–

$

1.61
–

$

1.69
8.06

$ (1.12)

$

2.30

$

1.80

$

1.61

$

9.75

$ (1.12)1
–

$

2.26
–

$

1.76 2
–

$

1.57 3
–

$

1.64 4
7.86 5

$ (1.12)1

$

2.26

$

1.76 2

$

1.57 3

$

9.50

$

191

187

182

174

171

191

191

186

177

175

Dividends Per Share
Common Stock
Convertible Preferred Stock

$ 0.03
$ 56.03

$ 0.03
$ 57.50

$ 0.03
$ 57.50

$ 0.03
$ 14.38

$
$

Consolidated Financial Condition
(As of December 31)
Cash and Investments
Total Assets
Debt
Convertible Preferred Stock
Shareholders’ Equity

$ 4,424
$ 9,701
6
$ 708
$
–
$ 4,038

$ 4,041
$ 7,623
$
–
$ 500
$ 4,534

$ 3,453
$ 6,997
$
–
$ 500
$ 3,823

$ 3,078
$ 6,161
$
–
$ 500
$ 3,188

$ 2,769
$ 3,489
$
–
$
–
$ 2,795

0.03
–

Financial Highlights should be read together with the accompanying Financial Review and Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes.
1 Excluding the operational realignment and other charges of $725 million, $175 million of charges related to contract losses associated with certain Medicare markets and other increases to commercial and Medicare medical costs payable
estimates and the $20 million convertible preferred stock redemption premium from 1998 results, earnings from operations and net earnings applicable to common shareholders would have been $858 million and $509 million, or $2.62 diluted net
earnings per common share.
2 Excluding the merger costs associated with the acquisition of HealthWise of America, Inc. of $15 million ($9 million after tax, or $0.05 diluted net earnings per common share) and the provision for future losses on two large 28 contracts of $45
million ($27 million after tax, or $0.15 diluted net earnings per common share), 1996 earnings from operations and net earnings would have been $641 million and $392 million, or $1.96 diluted net earnings per common share.
3 Excluding restructuring charges associated with the acquisition of The MetraHealth Companies, Inc., of $154 million ($97 million after tax, or $0.55 diluted net earnings per common share), 1995 earnings from operations and net earnings would
have been $615 million and $383 million, or $2.12 diluted net earnings per common share.
4 Excluding the nonoperating merger costs associated with the acquisitions of Complete Health Services, Inc. and Ramsay-HMO, Inc., of $36 million ($22 million after tax, or $0.13 diluted net earnings per common share), 1994 earnings before
extraordinary gain would have been $310 million or $1.77 diluted net earnings per common share.
5 In May 1994, the Company sold Diversified Pharmaceutical Services, Inc. for $2.3 billion in cash and recognized an extraordinary gain after transaction costs and income tax effects of $1.4 billion, or $7.86 diluted net earnings per common share.
6 During 1998, we issued notes and commercial paper aggregating $708 million, which remained outstanding at December 31, 1998.
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Results of Operations

1998 Financial Performance Highlights
1998 was an important year of both challenges and successes
for UnitedHealth Group.
• Excluding the effects of the unusual or nonrecurring events
and transactions described below, we achieved record profits.
Underlying earnings from operations, net earnings applicable to
common shareholders, and diluted net earnings per common
share were $858 million, $509 million and $2.62 per share,
respectively, representing increases over 1997 of 16%, 18%, and
16%, respectively.
• We achieved record revenues of $17.4 billion, a 47% increase
over 1997. This growth was driven primarily by same-store
enrollment growth in our UnitedHealthcare business and from
successful implementation of our $3.5 billion Medicare
supplement insurance program with the AARP.
• Record cash flows of more than $1.0 billion were generated
from operating activities, a 57% increase over 1997.
• We completed several financing initiatives to achieve a more
efficient capital structure, including the redemption of our
$500 million convertible preferred stock and the repurchase of
11.3 million shares of our common stock.
• We embarked on a major realignment of our operations into
independent but strategically linked businesses, each focused on
performance, growth and shareholder value. As a result of our
evaluation of each business’s strategic fit and contributions,
analysis of our profitability in certain markets, and the adequacy
of our medical costs payable estimates, we took actions that
resulted in special operating charges of $900 million.
1 9 9 8 O p e r at i n g R e s u l t s O v e r v i e w
The following table summarizes our results for each of the last
three years ended December 31 (in millions, except per share
amounts).
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Earnings (Loss) From Operations
Net Earnings (Loss) Applicable to
Common Shareholders
Diluted Net Earnings (Loss) per
Common Share
Medical Costs to Premium Revenues
SG&A Expenses to Total Revenues

$

19962

1997

(42) $

742

$

581

$ (214) $

431

$

327

$ (1.12) $ 2.26
87.2% 3 84.3%
17.1%
20.0%

$

1.76
84.6%
21.5%

In 1998, we reported a net loss applicable to common shareholders of $214 million, or $1.12 diluted net loss per common
share. However, these results include certain large or unusual
events and transactions as described below:
• In conjunction with our realignment and other initiatives, we
recorded $725 million of charges to operations during the
second quarter of 1998. The charges included $451 million of
asset impairments and $274 million of estimated future costs
associated with our initiatives, such as employee terminations;
disposing of or discontinuing business units, product lines and
contracts; and consolidating certain processing operations and
associated real estate obligations. Although our realignment
initiatives and the associated nonrecurring charges caused us to
report a net loss for 1998, these actions position us to make longterm fundamental process and performance improvements.
• Our second quarter 1998 medical costs include $120 million
related to contract losses and other increases to medical costs
payable estimates in UnitedHealthcare’s Medicare markets and
$55 million related to increases to medical costs payable
estimates associated with increased commercial medical costs in
certain health plans.
• In conjunction with the redemption of our $500 million
convertible preferred stock, we paid a $20 million redemption
premium. This premium is added to 1998’s net loss to arrive at net
loss applicable to common shareholders.
Excluding the effects of the events and transactions
described above, 1998 underlying earnings from operations and
diluted net earnings per common share were $858 million and
$2.62 per share, respectively, representing increases of 16% over
earnings from operations of $742 million and diluted net
earnings per common share of $2.26 in 1997. These increases
were primarily driven by improved margins in the commercial
product offerings of our UnitedHealthcare business and
successful integration and management of our services provided
to the AARP, which began on January 1, 1998.
The discussion that follows provides a more detailed analysis
of our 1998, 1997 and 1996 operating results.

1

Excluding the effects of $725 million of operational realignment and other charges, $175 million of charges
related to contract losses associated with certain Medicare markets and other increases to commercial and Medicare
medical costs payable estimates, and the $20 million convertible preferred stock redemption premium, earnings
from operations, net earnings applicable to common shareholders, and diluted net earnings per common share
would have been $858 million, $509 million, and $2.62 per share, respectively.

2

Excluding the effects of a $45 million provision for future losses on two large multi-year contracts and $15 million of
merger costs associated with the acquisition of HealthWise of America, Inc., earnings from operations, net earnings
applicable to common shareholders, and diluted net earnings per common share would have been $641 million,
$392 million, and $1.96 per share, respectively.

3

Includes $175 million of contract losses associated with certain Medicare markets and other increases to commercial
and Medicare medical costs payable estimates. The company’s ratio of medical costs to premium revenues for the year
ended December 31, 1998, would have been 86.0% without these charges.
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supplement insurance program with the AARP and same-store
enrollment growth in our UnitedHealthcare business. On a
year-over-year same-store basis, UnitedHealthcare’s total
revenues increased by $1.7 billion, or 16%, over 1997.
The following table summarizes enrollment in all of our
product offerings as of December 31:
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Revenues and Enrollment
1998 was a record year for UnitedHealth Group, with consolidated revenues of $17.4 billion, an increase of $5.6 billion, or
47%, over 1997. Our revenue growth was primarily derived
from successful implementation of our $3.5 billion Medicare
Enrollment Summary 1
1998

1997
Amount

1996

Amount

Increase (Decrease)

Increase (Decrease)

Amount

5,231
530

17%
(14%)

4,475
613

13%
(29%)

3,945
858

Total Commercial
Medicare
Medicaid

5,761
483
638

13%
40%
21%

5,088
345
526

6%
54%
0%

4,803
224
525

Total Risk-Based
Fee-Based:
Commercial

6,882

15%

5,959

7%

5,552

1,725

7%

1,609

(29%)

2,279

8,607

14%

7,568

(3%)

7,831

261
5,139

(1%)
(2%)

263
5,226

(9%)
(8%)

288
5,653

5,400

(2%)

5,489

(8%)

5,941

14,007

7%

13,057

(5%)

13,772

Enrollment,excluding Ovations
(as of December 31, in thousands )

UnitedHealthcare
Risk-Based:
Health Plans
Other Network-Based and Indemnity

Total UnitedHealthcare
Uniprise
Risk-Based
Fee-Based
Total Uniprise
Total Enrollment, excluding Ovations
1

Enrollment information includes growth resulting from our 1998 acquisition of HealthPartners of Arizona, Inc. (509,000 members). Additionally, the fee-based lives served by United HealthCare
Administrators, Inc. are included in 1996 (666,000 members). We sold United HealthCare Administrators, Inc. on June 30, 1997.

Our revenues are comprised of: 1) premium revenues
associated with our risk-based products (those where we
assume financial responsibility for health care costs); 2)
management services and fees associated with administrative
services only customers, managed health plans, and our
Specialized Care Services and Ingenix businesses; and 3)
investment and other income.
The discussion that follows provides an analysis of our 1998
revenue trends for each of our three revenue components.
Premium Revenues
The following table summarizes premium revenues by
business unit for the years ended December 31 (in millions):

UnitedHealthcare
Ovations
Uniprise
Specialized Care Services
Elimination of Inter-Unit
Transactions

1998

1997

$11,397
3,584
447
337

$ 9,507
87
418
291

(249)
$15,516

NM – Not Meaningful
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(168)
$10,135

Percent
Increase
(Decrease)

20%
NM
7%
16%
NM
53%

Consolidated premium revenues in 1998 totaled $15.5
billion, an increase of $5.4 billion, or 53%, compared to 1997. On
January 1, 1998, our Ovations business began delivering
Medicare supplement insurance and other medical insurance
coverage to approximately 4 million AARP members. Premium
revenues from our portion of the AARP insurance offerings
during 1998 were $3.5 billion.
Excluding the AARP business, 1998 consolidated premium
revenues totaled $12.0 billion, an increase of 19% over 1997.
This increase is primarily the result of growth in our
UnitedHealthcare business. On a year-over-year same-store basis,
UnitedHealthcare’s premium revenues increased $1.7 billion, or
18%, during 1998. The increase reflects same-store commercial
health plan enrollment growth of 10% and average year-overyear premium yield increases on renewing commercial health
plan groups of approximately 5% to 6%.
Growth in UnitedHealthcare’s Medicare programs also
contributed to the increase in premium revenues, with samestore growth of 33% in Medicare enrollment. Significant growth
in Medicare enrollment affects year-over-year comparability. The
Medicare product generally has per member premium rates
three times to four times higher than average commercial
premium rates because Medicare members typically use proportionately more medical care services. On a year-over-year same-

store basis, UnitedHealthcare’s commercial health plan and
Medicare products accounted for $1.8 billion of premium
revenue growth during 1998.
The increase in UnitedHealthcare’s commercial health
plan and Medicare product premium revenues was partially offset
by a $240 million decrease from other network-based and
indemnity products. We expect enrollment in UnitedHealthcare’s
other network-based and indemnity products will continue to
decline through 1999. To the extent possible, we will convert these
enrollees to UnitedHealthcare’s commercial health plan products.
Management Services and Fee Revenues
Management services and fee revenues during 1998 totaled
$1.6 billion, representing an increase of approximately $160
million over 1997. The increase is primarily the result of acquisitions by Ingenix during 1997 and 1998. Additionally, our
Specialized Care Services business — most notably United
Behavioral Health and Optum,® our telephone- and Internetbased health information and services business — continues to
increase the number of individuals it serves.
Investment and Other Income
Investment and other income increased to $249 million in
1998 from $231 million in 1997. The increase of $18 million is
primarily attributable to an increase in average cash and investments from $3.6 billion in 1997 to $4.1 billion in 1998. Net
capital gains were $26 million in both 1998 and 1997.
Medical Costs
The combination of our pricing strategy and medical
management efforts is reflected in the medical care ratio
(medical costs as a percentage of premium revenues). The
following table summarizes our medical care ratio by product
line for the years ended December 31:
1998

1997

UnitedHealthcare:
Commercial (1)
Medicare
Medicaid

85.3%
92.0%
85.2%

85.7%
83.3%
82.8%

Total UnitedHealthcare

86.7%

85.1%

Consolidated UnitedHealth Group

87.2%

84.3%

Consolidated (excluding AARP)

85.8%

84.3%

(1)

Includes commercial health plan, other network-based and indemnity products.

Our consolidated medical care ratio increased to 87.2% in
1998 from 84.3% in 1997. The year-over-year increase includes
the effects of the AARP business on our medical care ratio. We
experience a medical care ratio of approximately 92% related to
our portion of the AARP insurance offerings, which we began
delivering on January 1, 1998. Excluding the AARP business, on a
year-over-year basis, the medical care ratio increased to 85.8%.
The increase in the 1998 medical care ratio is primarily attributable to average Medicare premium rate increases of 2.5% that
were more than offset by increased medical utilization, reflected
mostly in hospital costs. In 13 of our 24 Medicare markets, representing half of our annual Medicare premiums of $2.4 billion, we

incurred contract losses of $111 million. Six of these 13 markets
are generally newer markets where we have been unable to
achieve the scale of operations necessary to achieve profitability.
In numerous counties in the other seven markets, we experienced
increased medical costs which exceeded the fixed Medicare
premiums that only increased 2.5% on average.
We are addressing our Medicare medical care ratio by
altering benefit designs, recontracting with providers, and
aggressively increasing both contemporaneous and retrospective
claim management activities. We also are continuing to evaluate
the markets we serve and products we offer. In addition, we will
curtail activities or exit markets where we believe near term
prospects are unacceptable.
To that end, in October 1998, we announced our decision to
withdraw Medicare product offerings from 86 of the 206 counties
we then served. The decision, effective January 1, 1999, affected
approximately 60,000, or 13%, of our Medicare members. We will
continue to offer Medicare products in strong and economically
viable markets. Annual revenues for 1998 from Medicare counties
we exited were approximately $225 million.
Despite increasing commercial medical cost trends in certain
health plan markets, UnitedHealthcare’s overall commercial
medical care ratio improved slightly to 85.3% in 1998 from
85.7% in 1997.
Commercial health plan premium rates are established
based on anticipated health care costs. During 1998, commercial
premium yield increases averaging 5% to 6% minimally
exceeded medical cost trends of approximately 4%. Looking to
1999, we expect average medical cost increases to remain stable
in the 4% to 5% range, and we also expect that our medical care
ratio will improve as a result of premium yield increases on new
and renewal commercial business averaging 7% to 8%.
Operating Expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses as a percent of total
revenues (the SG&A ratio) decreased from 20.0% in 1997 to
17.1% in 1998. The improvement in the year-over-year SG&A
ratio principally reflects the operating leverage we gained with
the addition of the AARP business and planned cost reductions
we have achieved to date from our realignment initiatives. On an
absolute dollar basis, selling, general and administrative costs
increased by $600 million, or 25%, over 1997. This increase
primarily reflects the additional infrastructure needed to support
the $5.4 billion, or 53%, increase in premium-based business.
Depreciation and amortization was $185 million in 1998, and
$146 million in 1997. This increase resulted from a combination
of higher levels of capital expenditures to support business
growth and amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets
related to recent acquisitions.
The $451 million of asset impairments recorded in the
second quarter of 1998 will reduce depreciation and amortization by approximately $15 million annually. This decrease will
be more than offset in 1999 by increased depreciation and
amortization related to capital expenditures and intangible assets
acquired in acquisitions during 1998.

25

Operational Realignment and Other Charges
In conjunction with our operational realignment, we developed
and, in the second quarter of 1998, approved a comprehensive
plan (the Plan) to implement our operational realignment. We
recognized corresponding charges to operations of $725
million, which reflect the estimated costs we will incur under the
Plan. The charges included costs associated with asset impairments; employee terminations; disposing of or discontinuing
business units, product lines and contracts; and consolidating
and eliminating certain processing operations and associated
real estate obligations. These activities will result in a net
reduction of more than 4,000 positions, affecting 6,000 people
in various locations. Through December 31, 1998, we have eliminated approximately 2,000 positions pursuant to the Plan.
Businesses we intend to dispose of include our managed
workers’ compensation business, and medical and behavioral
health provider clinics. Markets where we plan to curtail or make
changes to our operating presence include our small group
health insurance business and three health plan markets that are
in non-strategic locations.
Our original provision for operational realignment and other
charges was developed based on management’s best judgement
and estimates at that time. As we began to execute the Plan, we
adjusted certain estimates based on more current information
related to the amounts to be paid for severance and lease cancellation fees. In addition, based on continuing negotiations related
to business dispositions, our original estimates for asset impairments and business disposition costs were revised. In total, our
Operational Realignment and Other Charges did not change.

The table below summarizes realignment activities for the year
ended December 31, 1998 (in millions):
Recorded
Provision

Provision for operational
realignment and
other charges:
Asset Impairments
$ 430
Severance and
outplacement costs
142
Noncancelable lease
obligations
82
Dispositions of business
and other costs
71
Total provision

Additional
Charges
(Credits)

21

Charges
Cash

–

$ (451) $

(20)

(19)

–

103

(9)

(6)

–

67

8

(13)

–

66

–

$ (38)

$ 725

$

Incurred Accrual at
Noncash Year-End

–

$ (451) $ 236

We have included in asset impairments the write-off of
$68 million of purchased in-process research and development
associated with the acquisition of Medicode, Inc. The in-process
projects were focused on the continued development and
evolution of next-generation medical databases and software
solutions, including clinical editing software, benchmarking
databases and technologies. These technologies, upon
completion, will enable both health care payers and providers to
use the same data generated in the treatment documentation
process to be then used in the financial transaction process,
which involves provider compensation, care utilization review,
trend analysis and management reporting. As of the date of
acquisition, Medicode had invested $8.5 million in the in-process
projects identified above. We estimate that it will be necessary to
dedicate approximately $2.2 million over the next 16 months in
order to successfully complete these projects.

Details of the asset impairments are as follows (in millions):
UnitedHealthcare intangible and operating
assets of certain health plan and small group
insurance markets

$ 291

Specialized Care Services intangible
and operating assets

$ 39

Ingenix purchased in-process research
and development

$ 68

Corporate operating assets

$ 53

Total

$ 451

Triggering Event

Expected Disposal

Disposal Date

A decision to exit or
reconfigure these
businesses, markets
and products.

Operating assets will be
abandoned or disposed
of upon exit or
reconfiguration of the
market, business, or
products.

The carrying value of the
assets will be depreciated
over the estimated
remaining life, with
physical disposal during
either the fourth quarter
of 1998 or the first six
months of 1999.

The acquisition of
Medicode, Inc. occurred
in December 1997.
The final allocation of
purchase price and
valuation of acquired
intangibles was completed
in June 1998.

Not applicable.

Written down during
second quarter of 1998.

Realignment initiatives
resulted in operating
assets to be abandoned or
disposed.

Operating assets have
been or will be written
off, abandoned or
disposed of upon exit of
certain businesses or as a
result of other
realignment initiatives.

The carrying value of the
assets will be depreciated
over the estimated
remaining life with physical
disposal during either the
fourth quarter of 1998 or the
first six months of 1999.

We believe the aggregate reduction in our overall cost
structure from our realignment and other cost reduction activities will approximate $300 million annually by the end of the
year 2000. We expect to realize approximately $75 million of
these reductions in 1999.
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The operational realignment charges do not cover certain
aspects of the Plan, including new information systems, data conversions, process re-engineering and employee relocation and
training. These costs will be charged to expense as incurred or
capitalized, as appropriate.
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Premium Revenues
During 1997, consolidated premium revenues totaled $10.1
billion, representing an increase of $1.6 billion, or 19%,
compared to 1996. Excluding the effects of acquisitions,
premium revenues in 1997 increased by 17% over 1996.
The increase in premium revenues in 1997 was primarily due
to growth in year-over-year same-store commercial health plan
revenues of $1.5 billion, or 25%. The increase reflected samestore commercial health plan enrollment growth of 13% and
average year-over-year premium rate increases on renewing
commercial groups of approximately 5%. Growth in our
Medicare programs also contributed to the increase in premium
revenues, with a year-over-year same-store increase of 53% in
Medicare enrollment.
The 1997 year-over-year increase in premium revenues from
commercial and Medicare products was partially offset by a
$220 million decrease from non-network-based indemnity
products. Nearly $60 million of this decrease resulted because
we discontinued our relationship with a broker who sold and
administered small group indemnity business on our behalf,
which led to the loss of 30,000 indemnity members effective July
1, 1997. The remaining decrease was from declining enrollment
in these products, which is attributed to average rate increases of
10% to 20% that started in 1996 and continued into 1997, as well
as other business factors.
Management Services and Fee Revenues
Management services and fee revenues in 1997 totaled $1.4
billion, representing an increase of $30 million, or 2%, over
1996. The increase resulted from enrollment growth within
managed health plans and an increase in individuals served by
our Specialized Care Services business. Offsetting these
increases, fee revenues from self-funded products decreased $15
million because of declining enrollment in these products. In
addition, the June 30, 1997, sale of our subsidiary, United
HealthCare Administrators, Inc., resulted in a $24 million
decrease in these revenues in 1997 compared to 1996.
Investment and Other Income
Investment and other income increased to $231 million in 1997
from $185 million in 1996. The increase of $46 million is
primarily attributable to an increase in average cash and investments from $3.2 billion in 1996 to $3.6 billion in 1997.
Additionally, 1997 investment and other income included net
capital gains of $26 million compared with $4 million in 1996.
Medical Costs
During 1997, the medical care ratio increased slightly from
84.0% in 1996 (before nonrecurring charges) to 84.3%. The
1997 increase in the medical care ratio was the result of
several factors:
• A few specific health plan markets had medical care ratios
substantially higher than our other health plans in the
aggregate. The reasons varied from plan to plan, but generally,
medical cost controls and provider contracting initiatives were
not being fully implemented and commercial premium yields
were insufficient compared to corresponding medical costs.
• Several markets had recently introduced Medicare products,

which had been well received and were growing rapidly. We
generally experience higher medical care ratios during the early
stage of Medicare product introductions.
• Medicaid premiums did not increase and, in fact, decreased
in several markets.
Operating Expenses
During 1997, our SG&A ratio improved from 21.5% in 1996 to
20.0%. The improvement in the 1997 SG&A ratio reflected
ongoing operating efficiencies as well as our diligence in
managing operating expenses. On an absolute dollar basis,
selling, general and administrative costs increased $199 million
in 1997, or 9%, over 1996. This increase reflects the additional
infrastructure needed to support the $1.6 billion increase in
premium-based business, as well as the additional investment in
new Medicare markets and increased support for our growing
Specialized Care Services businesses.
Financial Condition and Liquidity as of
December 31, 1998
During 1998, we generated more than $1.0 billion in cash from
operating activities. We continued to maintain a strong financial
condition and liquidity position, with cash and investments of
$4.4 billion at December 31, 1998, an increase of $400 million
over December 31, 1997. Our long-term investments, $2.6
billion as of December 31, 1998, are classified as available for
sale and are periodically sold prior to their maturity date to fund
working capital or for other purposes.
During 1998, we also took several actions to improve our
capital structure:
• We redeemed $500 million of convertible preferred stock with
a cumulative dividend rate of 5.75% (a pre-tax effective rate of
approximately 9.0%). The redemption of the preferred shares was
financed with $650 million of unsecured notes payable at a
weighted-average pre-tax effective interest rate of 6.0%, thereby
decreasing our financing cost for this $500 million by 34% in the
first year. The debt placement consisted of $400 million in
unsecured notes due December 1999, with an interest rate of
5.65%, and $250 million in unsecured notes due December 2003,
with an interest rate of 6.65%.
• We repurchased 11.3 million shares of our common stock for
an aggregate cost of $436 million, an average cost of approximately $40 per share. Under our stock repurchase program, we
may purchase up to 18.7 million shares of our outstanding
common stock. Purchases may be made from time to time at
prevailing prices, subject to certain restrictions relating to
volume, pricing and timing.
• We established a $600 million commercial paper program,
which provides increased flexibility in managing our capital
structure. At December 31, 1998, there were $59 million in
commercial paper borrowings outstanding at an average interest
rate of 5.3%.
In support of our commercial paper program, we entered into
a $600 million credit arrangement with a group of banks. The
agreement is comprised of a $300 million five-year revolving
credit facility and a $300 million 364-day credit facility. No
borrowings were outstanding under the credit facilities as of
December 31, 1998.
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In January 1998, we filed a shelf registration statement with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) to sell up to $200
million of debt securities and preferred or common shares. The
shelf filing registered the securities and allows us to sell them from
time to time in the event we need financing. Proceeds from sales
of these securities may be used for a variety of general corporate
purposes, including working capital, securities repurchases and
acquisitions. In October 1998, we filed another shelf registration
statement to sell up to $1.05 billion of debt securities, preferred
stock, common stock, depository shares, warrants and trust
preferred securities. These securities may not be sold until the
SEC declares the registration statement effective.
Cash generated from operating activities and proceeds
received from our 1998 financing activities were used to redeem
outstanding preferred stock, repurchase common stock, and for
other general corporate purposes, including acquisitions. We
expect our available cash and investment resources, operating
cash flows, and financing capability to be sufficient to meet our
current operating requirements and other corporate development initiatives.
As further described under “Regulatory Capital and
Dividend Restrictions,” many of our subsidiaries are subject to
various government regulations. After taking into account these
regulations, approximately $500 million of our $4.4 billion of
cash and investments at December 31, 1998, was available for
general corporate use, including working capital needs.
The Company’s debt arrangements and credit facilities
contain various covenants, the most restrictive of which place
limitations on secured and unsecured borrowings and require
the Company to exceed minimum interest coverage levels. At
December 31, 1998, we were well within the requirements of all
debt covenants.
In the second quarter of 1998, we recognized special charges
to operations of $725 million associated with the implementation
of our operational realignment plan. We believe our after-tax
cash outlay associated with these charges will be in the range of
$75 million to $100 million over the next 12 months.
Currently, we do not have any other material definitive
commitments that require cash resources; however, we continually evaluate opportunities to expand our operations. This
includes internal development of new products and programs
and may include acquisitions.

•

G o v e r n m e n t R e g u l at i o n
Our primary business, offering health care coverage and
health care management services, is heavily regulated at the
federal and state levels. We strive to comply in all respects with
applicable regulations and may be required to make changes
from time to time in our services, products, marketing
methods or organizational or capital structure.
Regulatory agencies generally have broad discretion to issue
regulations and interpret and enforce laws and rules. Changes in
applicable laws and regulations are continually being considered,
and the interpretation of existing laws and rules also may change
from time to time. These changes could affect our operations and
financial results.
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Certain proposed changes in Medicare and Medicaid
programs may improve opportunities to enroll people under
products developed for these populations. Other proposed
changes could limit available reimbursement and increase competition in those programs, with adverse effects on our financial
results. Also, it could be more difficult for us to control costs if
federal and state bodies continue to consider and enact significant
and onerous managed care laws and regulations. Among the
legislative proposals are proposals that could expand health plan
liability or increase medical expenses.
The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of
1996 (HIPAA) may represent the most significant federal reform
of employee benefit law since the enactment of the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA) in 1974. Significant
provisions of HIPAA include guaranteeing the availability of
health insurance for certain employees, limiting the use of
preexisting condition exclusions, prohibiting discrimination on
the basis of health status, and making it easier to continue
coverage in cases where a person is terminated or changes
employers. Under HIPAA and other similar state laws, medical
cost control through amended provider contracts and improved
preventive and chronic care management may become more
important. We believe our experience in these areas will allow us
to compete effectively.
A comprehensive set of claims regulations has been proposed
by the United States Department of Labor (DOL) that could have
a significant impact on the Company. These regulations are
applicable to employee benefit plans subject to ERISA. In addition
to various other requirements, the regulations would create new
time frames for processing claims and giving notification of
incomplete claims, would impose certain notification requirements following a claim determination, and would impose certain
post-appeal disclosure obligations on the Company’s insured and
self-funded business. The DOL has solicited public comment on
the proposals, and the regulations, if adopted, could vary significantly from the proposals.
Health care fraud and abuse has become a top priority for the
nation’s law enforcement entities, which have focused on participants in federal government health care programs such as
Medicare, Medicaid and the Federal Employees Health Benefits
Program (FEHBP). We participate extensively in these programs.
We also are subject to governmental investigations and
enforcement actions. Included are actions relating to ERISA,
which regulates insured and self-insured health coverage plans
offered by employers; the FEHBP; Medicare and Medicaid;
federal and state fraud and abuse laws; and laws relating to care
management and health care delivery. Government actions could
result in assessment of damages, civil or criminal fines or
penalties, or other sanctions, including exclusion from participation in government programs. We currently are involved in
various government investigations and audits, but we do not
believe the results will have a material adverse effect on our
financial position or results of operations.

R e g u l at o ry C a p i ta l a n d
Dividend Restrictions
The Company’s operations are conducted through United
HealthCare Corporation, its wholly-owned subsidiary United
HealthCare Services, Inc. and their respective subsidiaries,
which consist principally of Health Maintenance Organizations
(HMOs) and insurance companies. HMOs and insurance
companies are subject to state regulations that, among other
things, may require the maintenance of minimum levels of
statutory capital, as defined by each state, and restrict the timing
and amount of dividends and other distributions that may be
paid to their respective parent companies. Generally, the
amount of dividend distributions that may be paid by regulated
insurance and HMO companies, without prior approval by state
regulatory authorities, is limited based on the entity’s level of
statutory net income and statutory capital and surplus.
As of December 31, 1998, the Company’s regulated
subsidiaries had aggregate statutory capital and surplus of
approximately $1.4 billion, compared with their aggregate
minimum statutory capital and surplus requirements of $390
million. The amount of dividends that may be paid to the
Company or United HealthCare Services, Inc., by their insurance
and HMO subsidiaries at December 31, 1998, without prior
approval by state regulatory authorities, is limited to approximately $120 million. There are no such restrictions on distributions from United HealthCare Services, Inc. to the Company or
on distributions from the Company to its shareholders.
The National Association of Insurance Commissioners has
adopted rules which, to the extent that they are implemented by
the states, will set new minimum capitalization requirements for
insurance companies, HMOs and other entities bearing risk for
health care coverage. The requirements take the form of riskbased capital rules. The change in rules for insurance companies
was effective December 31, 1998. The new HMO rules are subject
to state-by-state adoption, but few states had adopted the rules as
of December 31, 1998. The HMO rules, if adopted by the states in
their proposed form, would significantly increase the capital
required for certain of our subsidiaries. However, we believe we
can redeploy capital among our regulated entities to minimize
the need for incremental capital investment of general corporate
financial resources into regulated subsidiaries. As such, we do not
anticipate a significant impact on our aggregate capital or investments in regulated subsidiaries.
C o n c e n t r at i o n s o f C r e d i t R i s k
Investments in financial instruments such as marketable
securities and commercial premiums receivable may subject
UnitedHealth Group to concentrations of credit risk. Our
investments in marketable securities are managed by professional investment managers within an investment policy authorized by the board of directors. This policy limits the amounts
that may be invested in any one issuer. Concentrations of credit
risk with respect to commercial premiums receivable are
limited to the large number of employer groups that comprise
our customer base. As of December 31, 1998, there were no
significant concentrations of credit risk.

Q ua n t i tat i v e a n d Q ua l i tat i v e D i s c l o s u r e s
About Market Risk
Since the date of the Company’s quarterly report filed on Form
10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1998, no material
changes have occurred in the Company’s exposure to market
risk associated with our investments in market risk-sensitive
financial instruments. We do not believe that our risk of a loss
in future earnings or a decline in fair values or cash flow attributable to such investments is material.
I n f l at i o n
Although the general rate of inflation has remained relatively
stable and health care cost inflation has stabilized in recent
years, the national health care cost inflation rate still exceeds
the general inflation rate. We use various strategies to mitigate
the negative effects of health care cost inflation, including
setting commercial premiums based on anticipated health
care costs, risk-sharing arrangements with various health care
providers, and other health care cost containment measures.
Specifically, health plans try to control medical and hospital
costs through contracts with independent providers of health
care services. Through these contracted care providers, our
health plans emphasize preventive health care and appropriate
use of specialty and hospital services.
While we currently believe our strategies to mitigate health
care cost inflation will continue to be successful, competitive
pressures, new health care product introductions, demands from
health care providers and customers, applicable regulations, or
other factors may affect our ability to control the impact of health
care cost increases. In addition, certain non-network-based
products do not have health care cost containment measures
similar to those in place for network-based products. As a result,
there is added health care cost inflation risk with these products.
Year 2000 Activities
Our business depends significantly on effective information
systems, and we have many different information systems for
our various businesses. Our information systems require
ongoing enhancements to keep pace with the continuing
changes in information technology, evolving industry
standards, and customer preferences. We have been modifying
our computer systems to accommodate the Year 2000. The
Year 2000 problem exists throughout the global marketplace,
as many computer systems and applications were developed to
recognize the year as a two-digit number, with the digits “00”
being recognized as the year 1900.
Starting in 1995, our formal Year 2000 Project Office began
implementing a remediation plan so that critical information
systems applications, end-user developed application tools, and
business interfaces remain intact and can function properly
through the century change. We are on schedule to complete, test
and certify our Year 2000 remediation efforts by September 30,
1999. A more detailed description and current status of our Year
2000 activities follows.
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Technical Infrastructure
Mainframe Technology In conjunction with our two
vendors that provide support for our data center operations, we
have completed, tested and certified 99% of our remediation
efforts for the hardware, operating system and supporting
software remediation efforts on our two primary mainframe
computer systems. In addition, we are in the process of
reviewing some of our smaller mainframe systems and making
modifications as necessary. We expect to be 100% complete
with all mainframe hardware and software technology Year
2000 modifications by March 31, 1999. We also have installed
separate test environments (both mainframe and distributed)
to test our business applications in a simulated Year 2000
environment.
Desktop Hardware and Software We have inventoried
all of our desktop hardware and software — more than 40,000
computing devices of multiple makes and models. All noncompliant desktop hardware and software have been identified and
are being modified or replaced with compliant systems by
September 30, 1999.
Telecommunications We have inventoried all of our
telecommunication systems — more than 28,000 telecommunication devices, including traffic routers and phone switches. We
are using two outside vendors to assist us in modifying or
replacing noncompliant telecommunication systems. As of
December 31, 1998, we were approximately 75% Year 2000
compliant with our data and voice networks. We expect all of
our telecommunication networks and devices will be Year 2000
compliant by September 30, 1999.
Business Applications
Critical Software Applications We use 500 different
software applications that include more than 80 million lines of
computer code. We have surveyed our software applications and
have identified systems that will not be used after December 31,
1999, and systems that will be modified for Year 2000
compliance. We have determined that 36% of our software
applications will not be used after December 31, 1999, due to
conversions, consolidations and software replacements. Of the
remaining applications, over 90% have been made Year 2000
compliant, tested and certified or are scheduled to be certified
for compliance. The balance of the applications are yet to be
tested. We expect all critical Year 2000 software modifications
to be completed by March 31, 1999, with further testing and
certification during the remainder of 1999.
End-User Developed Applications End-user developed
applications are analysis tools that have been internally developed
by individual employees or operating segments primarily running
on personal computers or client servers. The Year 2000 Project
Office has continuously communicated with all employees
explaining the risks of noncompliant applications and provided
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tools and techniques to make them compliant. We have identified
and are tracking and assessing Year 2000 compliance issues with
respect to all potentially critical end-user applications.
O t h e r Y e a r 2 0 0 0 M at t e r s
Non-Information Technology Systems
We have approximately 300 owned or leased facilities
throughout the world. We have contacted all of our facility
managers regarding Year 2000 compliance issues. In addition,
we have contracted with a real estate management company to
assist in our Year 2000 compliance efforts. All facilities are
scheduled to be Year 2000 compliant by September 1, 1999.
Dependence on Third Parties
We use approximately 300,000 different medical providers and
more than 92,000 vendors. Approximately 2,000 vendors have
been identified as critical business partners and suppliers. We
are currently in communication with these critical business
partners to analyze their Year 2000 compliance efforts. We
expect to complete our analysis of critical vendor readiness and
identify alternative vendors, where necessary, by July 31, 1999.
We will not be individually contacting all of the 300,000 medical
providers with whom we conduct business regarding Year 2000
compliance issues. However, we will be testing and verifying the
electronic collection of data with our providers through our
EDI (electronic data interface) clearinghouse vendors.
Costs of Year 2000 Compliance
The projected costs of our Year 2000 compliance efforts and the
date on which we plan to complete the necessary Year 2000
remediation efforts are based on management’s best estimates,
which were derived using various assumptions of future events.
However, there can be no guarantee that these estimates will be
achieved, and actual results could differ significantly from our
current plans. Specific factors that might cause significant differences include, but are not limited to, the availability and cost of
personnel trained in this area, the ability to locate and correct the
relevant computer codes, and the ability of our significant
vendors, providers, customers, and others with whom we conduct
business to identify and resolve their own Year 2000 issues.
Costs associated with modifying internal use software for Year
2000 compliance are charged to expense as incurred. Purchases
of hardware or software that replace existing hardware or
software that is not Year 2000 compliant are capitalized and
amortized over their useful lives. As of December 31, 1998, our
historical and projected costs to complete our Year 2000 remediation plan were as follows (in millions):
Expenses Incurred to Date
Projected Expenses
Resources Depreciation Resources Depreciation

1996
1997
1998
1999
2000
2001
2002

$

1
12
18
–
–
–
–

$

–
–
–
–
–
–
–

$

–
–
–
18
3
–
–

$ 31

$

–

$ 21

$

–
–
–
7
9
9
2

$ 27

Total

$

1
12
18
25
12
9
2

$ 79

Business Risks of Noncompliant Systems
Although we are committed to completing and testing our
remediation plan well in advance of the Year 2000, there are
risks if we do not meet our objectives by December 31, 1999.
Operationally, the most severe risk is business interruption.
Specific examples of situations that could cause business interruption include, but are not limited to: computer hardware or
application software processing errors or failures, facilities or
infrastructure failures, or critical outside providers, suppliers,
or customers who may not be Year 2000 compliant. Depending
on the extent and duration of business interruption resulting
from noncompliant Year 2000 systems, such interruption may
have a material adverse effect on our results of operations,
liquidity and financial condition.
Contingency Plans
Each area of our Year 2000 compliance effort is currently developing contingency plans to mitigate the risk of failure, and to
provide for a speedy recovery from possible failures associated
with the century change. The contingency plans detail
strategies to implement in 1999 to prepare for the century
rollover, and actions to execute if problems emerge. The target
date for completion of the initial contingency plans is April 1,
1999. Contingency plans will be final by July 31, 1999.
L e g a l M at t e r s
Six suits assert claims under the U.S. securities laws against
UnitedHealth Group and certain of its current and former
officers and directors. The plaintiffs are shareholders of the
Company who purport to sue on behalf of a class of purchasers
of the Company’s common shares during the period February
12, 1998, through August 5, 1998 (the “Class Period”). Each
complaint was filed in the United States District Court for the
District of Minnesota. Each of the six actions claims violations
of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act
and SEC Rule 10b-5. In substance, the complaints allege that
the Company made materially false or misleading statements
about the profitability and performance of the Company’s
Medicare business during the Class Period. Two of the
complaints also allege that the Company made materially false
statements about its medical costs and the expenses related to
its realignment. The complaints also allege that the statements
were made with the intention of deceiving members of the
investing public and with the intention that the price of the
Company’s shares would rise, making it possible for insiders at
the Company to profit by selling shares at a time when they
knew the Company’s true financial condition, but the investing
public did not. The complaints allege that once the Company’s
true financial condition was revealed on August 6, 1998, the
price of its common shares fell from a closing price of $52 7⁄ 8
per share on August 5, 1998, to a closing price of $37 7⁄ 8 per share
on August 6, 1998. The complaints seek compensatory
damages in unspecified amounts.

On January 19, 1999, we received a consolidated amended
complaint (In re United HealthCare Corporation Securities
Litigation, No. 98-1888 in the United States District Court for the
District of Minnesota) for the six suits, which essentially restates
the allegations made in the earlier complaints.
On March 22, 1999, two actions were filed in the United
States District Court for the District of Minnesota by two pension
funds against UnitedHealth Group, certain current and former
officers and directors, and other individuals yet to be identified.
The pension funds wish to “opt-out” of the aforementioned
purported class actions suits. These individual actions essentially
restate the allegations made in the purported class actions and
claim violations of Sections 18(a) and 20 of the Securities
Exchange Act. In addition, both actions assert a claim of
negligent misrepresentation and securities claims under state
law. In the aggregate, the plaintiff pension funds seek compensatory damages totaling approximately $12.1 million.
We intend to defend these actions vigorously.
We are also involved in other legal actions that arise in the
ordinary course of business. Although we cannot predict the
outcomes of legal actions, it is our opinion that the resolution of
all currently pending or threatened actions, including the class
action lawsuit described above, will not have an adverse effect
on our consolidated financial position or results of operations.
C au t i o n a ry S tat e m e n t R e g a r d i n g
“ F o r wa r d - L o o k i n g ” S tat e m e n t s
The statements contained in this Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation, and
other sections of this annual report to shareholders, include
forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (the “PSLRA”). When
used herein, the words or phrases “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “intends,” “will likely result,” “estimates,” “projects” or
similar expressions are intended to identify such forwardlooking statements. Any of these forward-looking statements
involve risks and uncertainties that may cause the Company’s
actual results to differ materially from the results discussed in
the forward-looking statements. Statements that are not strictly
historical are “forward-looking” statements under the safe
harbor provisions of the PSLRA. Forward-looking statements
involve known and unknown risks, which may cause actual
results and corporate developments to differ materially from
those expected. Factors that could cause results and developments to differ materially from expectations include, without
limitation, the effects of state and federal regulations, the
effects of acquisitions and divestitures, and other risks
described from time to time in each of UnitedHealth Group’s
SEC reports, including quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, annual
reports on Form 10-K, and reports on Form 8-K.
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Consolidated Statements of Operations

UnitedHealth Group

1998

For the Year Ended December 31,
1997

1996

$15,516
1,590
249
17,355

$ 10,135
1,428
231
11,794

$ 8,491
1,398
185
10,074

13,523
2,964
185
–
725
17,397

8,542
2,364
146
–
–
11,052

7,180
2,165
133
15
–
9,493

(42)
(4)

742
–

581
–

(46)
(120)

742
(282)

581
(225)

(166)

460

356

Convertible Preferred Stock Dividends

(28)

(29)

(29)

Convertible Preferred Stock Redemption Premium

(20)

–

–

(in millions, except per share data)

Revenues

Premiums
Management Services and Fees
Investment and Other Income
Total Revenues
O p e r at i n g E x p e n s e s

Medical Costs
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Depreciation and Amortization
Merger Costs
Operational Realignment and Other Charges
Total Operating Expenses
E a r n i n g s ( L o s s ) F r o m O p e r at i o n s

Interest Expense
E a r n i n g s ( L o s s ) B e f o r e I n c o m e Ta x e s

Provision for Income Taxes
Net Earnings (Loss)

Net Earnings (Loss) Applicable To Common Shareholders

$ (214)

$

431

$

327

Basic Net Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share

$ (1.12)

$ 2.30

$

1.80

Diluted Net Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share

$ (1.12)

$ 2.26

$

1.76

B a s i c We i g h t e d - Av e r a g e N u m b e r O f C o m m o n
S h a r e s O u t s ta n d i n g
D i l u t i v e E f f e c t O f O u t s ta n d i n g S t o c k O p t i o n s

191
–

187
4

182
4

191

191

186

We i g h t e d - Av e r a g e N u m b e r O f C o m m o n S h a r e s
O u t s ta n d i n g , A s s u m i n g D i l u t i o n
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheets

UnitedHealth Group

(in millions, except share and per share data)

As of December 31,
1998
1997

Assets

Current Assets
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Short-Term Investments
Accounts Receivable, net of allowances of $64 and $45
Assets Under Management
Other Current Assets
Total Current Assets
Long-Term Investments
Property and Equipment, net of accumulated depreciation of $463 and $350
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, net of accumulated amortization
of $258 and $205
Total Assets

$ 1,644
170
991
1,155
320
4,280
2,610
294

$

750
506
768
28
141
2,193
2,785
364

2,517
$ 9,701

2,281
$ 7,623

$ 2,780
714
739
459
236
414
5,342
249
72
–

$ 1,565
235
495
–
–
275
2,570
–
19
500

2
1,107
2,885

2
1,398
3,105

44
4,038
$ 9,701

29
4,534
$ 7,623

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities
Medical Costs Payable
Other Policy Liabilities
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities
Short-Term Debt
Accrued Operational Realignment and Other Charges
Unearned Premiums
Total Current Liabilities
Long-Term Debt
Other Long-Term Liabilities
Convertible Preferred Stock
Commitments and Contingencies (Note 14)
Shareholders’ Equity
Common Stock, $0.01 par value - 500,000,000 shares authorized;
183,930,000 and 191,111,000 issued and outstanding
Additional Paid-in Capital
Retained Earnings
Net Unrealized Holding Gains on Investments Available for Sale,
net of income tax effects
Total Shareholders’ Equity
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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C o n s o l i d a t e d S t a t e m e n t s o f C h a n g e s i n S h a r e h o l d e r s’ E q u i t y

Common Stock

Additional
Paid-in
Capital

UnitedHealth Group

Net Unrealized
Holding Gains (Losses)
on Investments
Total
Retained
Available for
Shareholders’ Comprehensive
Earnings
Sale
Equity
Income (Loss)

(in millions, except per share data)

Shares

Amount

B a l a n c e at D e c e m b e r 3 1 , 1 9 9 5
Issuance of Common Stock
Stock Plans and Related Tax Benefits
Acquisitions
Comprehensive Income
Net Earnings
Other Comprehensive Income Adjustments
Change in Net Unrealized Holding
Losses on Investments Available
for Sale, net of income tax effects
Comprehensive Income
Cash Dividends
Common Stock ($0.03 per share)
Convertible Preferred Stock ($57.50 per share)

175

$ 2

$ 822

$ 2,359

$ 5

$ 3,188

2
8

–
–

56
270

–
–

–
–

56
270

–

–

–

356

–

356

$

356

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–

(12)
–

(12)
–

$

(12)
344

–
–

–
–

–
–

(6)
(29)

–
–

(6)
(29)

B a l a n c e at D e c e m b e r 3 1 , 1 9 9 6
Issuance of Common Stock
Stock Plans and Related Tax Benefits
Acquisitions
Stock Repurchases
Comprehensive Income
Net Earnings
Other Comprehensive Income Adjustments
Change in Net Unrealized Holding
Gains on Investments Available
for Sale, net of income tax effects
Comprehensive Income
Cash Dividends
Common Stock ($0.03 per share)
Convertible Preferred Stock ($57.50 per share)

185

2

1,148

3
3
–

–
–
–

116
144
(10)

–

–

–
–

2,680

(7)

3,823

–
–
–

–
–
–

116
144
(10)

–

460

–

460

$

460

–
–

–
–

–
–

36
–

36
–

$

36
496

–
–

–
–

–
–

(6)
(29)

–
–

(6)
(29)

B a l a n c e at D e c e m b e r 3 1 , 1 9 9 7
Issuance of Common Stock
Stock Plans and Related Tax Benefits
Acquisitions
Stock Repurchases
Comprehensive Income (Loss)
Net Loss
Other Comprehensive Income Adjustments
Change in Net Unrealized Holding
Gains on Investments Available
for Sale, net of income tax effects
Comprehensive Loss
Cash Dividends
Common Stock ($0.03 per share)
Convertible Preferred Stock ($56.03 per share)
Convertible Preferred Stock Redemption Premium

191

2

1,398

4
–
(11)

–
–
–

131
14
(436)

–

–

–

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

B a l a n c e at D e c e m b e r 3 1 , 1 9 9 8

184

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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$2

$1,107

3,105

29

–
–
–

–
–
–

131
14
(436)

–

(166)

$ (166)

–
–

15
–

15
–

15
$ (151)

(6)
(28)
(20)

–
–
–

(6)
(28)
(20)

(166)

$2,885

$44

4,534

$4,038

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

UnitedHealth Group

For the Year Ended December 31,
(in millions)

1998

1997

1996

$ (166)

$ 460

$ 356

185
(184)
451
–
–

146
91
–
–
–

133
48
–
45
(8)

41
269
137
236
102
1,071

(84)
53
(30)
–
47
683

(185)
321
(202)
–
54
562

(464)
(210)
59
(2,799)
3,435
21

–
(187)
–
(6,706)
5,889
(1,004)

(52)
(165)
–
(5,010)
4,755
(472)

708
84
(520)
(436)

–
79
–
(10)

–
42
–
–

(28)
(6)
(198)

(29)
(6)
34

(29)
(6)
7

I n c r e a s e ( D e c r e a s e ) i n C a s h a n d C a s h E q u i va l e n t s

894

(287)

97

C a s h a n d C a s h E q u i va l e n t s , B e g i n n i n g o f P e r i o d

750

1,037

940

750

$ 1,037

O p e r at i n g A c t i v i t i e s

Net Earnings (Loss)
Noncash Items
Depreciation and Amortization
Deferred Income Taxes
Asset Impairments
Provision for Future Losses
Other
Net Change in Other Operating Items, net of effects
from acquisitions, sales of subsidiaries and
changes in AARP balances
Accounts Receivable and Other Current Assets
Medical Costs Payable
Accounts Payable and Other Current Liabilities
Accrued Operational Realignment and Other Charges
Unearned Premiums
Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Investing Activities

Cash Paid for Acquisitions, net of cash assumed and other effects
Purchases of Property and Equipment and Capitalized Software
Proceeds from Sales of Property and Equipment
Purchases of Investments
Maturities/Sales of Investments
Cash Flows From(Used For) Investing Activities
Financing Activities

Proceeds from Issuance of Debt
Proceeds from Stock Option Exercises
Redemption of Convertible Preferred Stock
Stock Repurchases
Dividends Paid
Convertible Preferred Stock
Common Stock
Cash Flows (Used For) From Financing Activities

C a s h a n d C a s h E q u i va l e n t s , E n d o f P e r i o d

$ 1,644

$

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(1) Description of Business
UnitedHealth Group (“the Company,” “we,” “us,” “our”) is a
national leader in offering health care coverage and related
services to help people achieve improved health and well-being
through all stages of life. We provide a broad spectrum of
products and services and operate in all 50 states, the District
of Columbia and Puerto Rico, as well as internationally.
(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
We have prepared the consolidated financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and
have included the accounts of UnitedHealth Group and its
subsidiaries. We have eliminated all significant intersegment
and intercompany accounts and transactions.
Use of Estimates
These financial statements include some amounts that are based
on our best estimates and judgements. The most significant
estimates relate to medical costs payable and other policy liabilities, intangible asset valuations and useful lives, integration
reserves relating to acquisitions, and liabilities and asset impairments relating to our operational realignment activities. These
estimates may be adjusted as more current information becomes
available, and any adjustment could be significant.
Revenue Recognition
Premium revenues are recognized in the period enrolled
members are entitled to receive health care services. Premium
payments received from our customers prior to such period are
recorded as unearned premiums. Management services and fee
revenues are recognized in the period the related services are
performed. Premium revenues related to Medicare and Medicaid
programs as a percentage of total premium revenues were 20% in
1998, 22% in 1997, and 19% in 1996.
Medical Costs and Medical Costs Payable
Medical costs include claims paid, claims adjudicated but not
yet paid, estimates for claims received but not yet adjudicated,
and estimates for claims incurred but not yet received.
The estimates of medical costs and medical costs payable are
developed using actuarial methods based upon historical data for
payment patterns, cost trends, product mix, seasonality,
utilization of health care services and other relevant factors
including product changes. The estimates are subject to change
as actuarial methods change or as underlying facts, upon which
estimates are based, change. We did not change our actuarial
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UnitedHealth Group

methods during 1998, 1997 or 1996. The impact of any changes in
estimates is included in the determination of earnings in the
period of change. Management believes that the amount of
medical costs payable is adequate to cover the Company’s liability
for unpaid claims as of December 31, 1998.
Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments
Cash and cash equivalents are highly liquid investments with an
original maturity of three months or less. The fair value of cash
and cash equivalents approximates their carrying value
because of the short maturity of the instruments. Investments
with a maturity of less than one year are classified as short-term.
Investments held by trustees or agencies according to state
regulatory requirements are classified as held-to-maturity based
on our ability and intent to hold these investments to maturity.
Such investments are reported at amortized cost and are
included in long-term investments. All other investments are
classified as available for sale and reported at fair value based on
quoted market prices and are classified as short-term or long-term
depending on their maturity term. Periodically, we sell investments classified as long-term prior to their maturity to fund
working capital or for other purposes.
Unrealized gains and losses on investments available for sale
are excluded from earnings and reported as a separate
component of shareholders’ equity, net of income tax effects. To
calculate realized gains and losses on the sale of investments
available for sale, we use the specific cost of each investment sold.
We have no investments classified as trading securities.
Assets Under Management
Under our 10-year agreement with the AARP, we are administering certain aspects of the AARP’s insurance program that
were transferred from the program’s previous carrier (see
Note 7). Pursuant to our agreement with the AARP, the
associated assets are managed separately from our general
investment portfolio and are used to fund expenditures
associated with the AARP program. The assets are invested at
our discretion, within certain investment guidelines approved
by the AARP. At December 31, 1998, the assets were invested in
marketable debt securities. Interest earnings and realized
investment gains and losses on these assets accrue to the AARP
policyholders and, as such, are not included in our determination of earnings. Assets under management are reported at
their amortized cost. Unrealized gains and losses are included
in the reserve stabilization fund associated with the AARP
program (see Note 7). At December 31, 1998, the AARP
investment portfolio included unrealized gains of $12 million.

Other Policy Liabilities
Other policy liabilities principally relate to experience-rated
indemnity products and primarily include retrospective rate
credit reserves and customer balances.
Retrospective rate credit reserves represent premiums we
received in excess of claims and expenses charged under eligible
contracts. Reserves established for closed policy years are based
on actual experience, while reserves for open years are based on
estimates of premiums, claims and expenses incurred.
Customer balances consist principally of deposit accounts
and reserves that have accumulated under certain experiencerated contracts. At the customer’s option, these balances may be
returned to the customer or may be used to pay future premiums
or claims under eligible contracts.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment is stated at cost. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful
life of the respective assets, ranging from three years to 30
years. The weighted-average useful life of property and
equipment at December 31, 1998, was approximately six years.
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Goodwill represents the purchase price and transaction costs
associated with businesses we acquired in excess of the
estimated fair value of the net assets of these businesses. To the
extent possible, a portion of the excess purchase price and
transaction costs is assigned to certain identifiable intangible
assets. Goodwill and other intangible assets are being
amortized on a straight-line basis over useful lives ranging
from three years to 40 years, with a weighted-average useful life
of 34 years.
The useful lives of goodwill and other intangible assets have
been assigned based on our best judgement. We periodically
evaluate whether certain circumstances may affect the estimated
useful lives or the recoverability of the unamortized balance of
goodwill or other intangible assets.
The most significant components of goodwill and other
intangible assets are comprised of goodwill of $1.6 billion in
1998 and $1.2 billion in 1997, and employer group contracts and
supporting infrastructure, distribution networks and institutional knowledge of $800 million in 1998 and $900 million in
1997, net of accumulated amortization.
Long-Lived Assets
We review long-lived assets for events or changes in circumstances that would indicate we may not recover their carrying
value. We consider a number of factors, including estimated
future undiscounted cash flows associated with the long-lived
asset, to make this decision. We record assets held for sale at the
lower of their carrying amount or fair value, less any costs
associated with the final settlement.

Income Taxes
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recognized for
the differences between the financial and income tax
reporting bases of assets and liabilities based on enacted tax
rates and laws. The deferred income tax provision or benefit
generally reflects the net change in deferred income tax assets
and liabilities during the year. The current income tax
provision reflects the tax consequences of revenues and
expenses currently taxable or deductible on various income
tax returns for the year reported.
Stock-Based Compensation
We use the intrinsic value method for determining stock-based
compensation expenses. Under the intrinsic value method, we
do not recognize compensation expense when the exercise price
of an employee stock option equals or exceeds the fair market
value of the stock on the date the option is granted. Information
on what our stock-based compensation expenses would have
been had we calculated those expenses using the fair market
values of granted stock options is included in Note 12.
Net Earnings (Loss) Per Common Share
Basic net earnings (loss) per common share is computed by
dividing net earnings (loss) applicable to common shareholders by the weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding during the period. Diluted net earnings (loss) per
common share is determined using the weighted-average
number of common shares outstanding during the period,
adjusted for the dilutive effect of common stock equivalents,
consisting of shares which might be issued upon exercise of
common stock options. In periods where losses are reported,
the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding
excludes common stock equivalents, since their inclusion
would be anti-dilutive.
Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income and its components is reported in the
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ equity.
Comprehensive income is defined as changes in the equity of
our business excluding changes resulting from investments by
and distributions to our shareholders.
Recently Issued Accounting Standard
In June 1998, a new standard on accounting for derivative
financial instruments and hedging activities was issued. This
new standard will not materially affect our financial results or
disclosures based upon our current investment portfolio.
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(3) Acquisitions
In October 1998, our UnitedHealthcare business acquired
HealthPartners of Arizona, Inc. (HPA), with 509,000 members
as of the acquisition date. We paid $235 million in cash in
exchange for all outstanding shares of HPA. We accounted for
the acquisition using the purchase method of accounting,
which means the purchase price was allocated to assets and
liabilities acquired based on their estimated fair values at the
date of acquisition and only the post-acquisition results of HPA
are included in our consolidated financial statements. The
purchase price and costs associated with the acquisition
exceeded the preliminary estimated fair value of net assets
acquired by $223 million, which has been assigned to
goodwill. The pro forma effects of the HPA acquisition on our
consolidated financial statements were not material.
During 1998, our Ingenix business segment acquired KernMcNeill International (KMI), a New Jersey-based contract research
organization, and St. Anthony Publishing, Inc. (St. Anthony), a
leader in the health care coding and reimbursement publications
market. In the aggregate, we paid $188 million in cash and assumed
liabilities of $17 million in exchange for all of the common stock of
KMI and St. Anthony. We accounted for these acquisitions using the
purchase method of accounting. The purchase price and costs
associated with these acquisitions exceeded the preliminary
estimated fair value of net assets acquired by $205 million, which
has preliminarily been assigned to identifiable intangible assets and
goodwill. The pro forma effects of these acquisitions on our consolidated financial statements were not material.
In December 1997, Ingenix acquired Medicode, Inc.
(Medicode), a leading provider of health care information
products. We issued 2.4 million shares of common stock and
507,000 common stock options with a total fair value of $127
million in exchange for all outstanding shares of Medicode. We
accounted for the acquisition using the purchase method of
accounting. The purchase price and costs associated with the acquisition exceeded the preliminary estimated fair value of net assets
acquired by $123 million, which was preliminarily assigned to
goodwill. During the second quarter of 1998, the Company
completed the valuation of the intangible assets acquired in the
Medicode transaction. Pursuant to the valuation, we expensed $68
million of the excess purchase price representing purchased inprocess technology that previously had been assigned to goodwill.
In management’s judgement, this amount reflects the amount we
would reasonably expect to pay an unrelated party for each project
included in the technology. The value of in-process research and
development of $68 million represented approximately 48% of the
purchase price and was determined by estimating the costs to
develop the purchased technology into commercially viable
products, then estimating the resulting net cash flows from each
project that was incomplete at the acquisition date, and discounting
the resulting net cash flows to their present value. The amount of
research and development expended by Medicode on these
projects prior to the acquisition date totaled $8.5 million, with
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another $2.2 million expected to be spent to complete these
research and development projects. The in-process technology has
not yet reached technological feasibility and has no alternative
future use. The in-process projects were focused on the continued
development and evolution of next-generation medical databases
and software solutions. The $68 million charge is included as a
component of Operational Realignment and Other Charges in the
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations for the year
ended December 31, 1998. Based on the final valuation, the
remaining excess purchase price of $55 million was assigned to
existing technologies, trade names and goodwill. The pro forma
effects of the Medicode acquisition on our consolidated financial
statements were not material.
In April 1996, we completed the acquisition of HealthWise of
America, Inc. (HealthWise). HealthWise owned or operated
health plans in Maryland, Kentucky, Tennessee and Arkansas that
served 154,000 members at the time of acquisition. We issued 4.3
million shares of common stock in exchange for all outstanding
shares of HealthWise. We accounted for the acquisition as a
pooling of interests; however, we did not restate our historical
financial results because the effects of this acquisition on our
consolidated financial statements were not material. In
connection with the HealthWise acquisition, we incurred merger
costs of $15 million.
In March 1996, we completed the acquisition of PHP, Inc.
(PHP), a North Carolina-based health plan that served 132,000
members at the time of acquisition. We issued 2.3 million shares of
common stock, with a fair value of $140 million, in exchange for
all outstanding shares of PHP. We accounted for the acquisition
using the purchase method of accounting. The purchase price and
costs associated with the acquisition exceeded the estimated fair
value of net assets acquired by $115 million, which has been
assigned to goodwill. The pro forma effects of the PHP acquisition
on our consolidated financial statements were not material.
We acquired MetraHealth in October 1995. MetraHealth was
formed in January 1995 by combining the group health care
insurance operations of Metropolitan Life Insurance Company and
The Travelers Insurance Group. We accounted for the acquisition
using the purchase method of accounting. The excess purchase
price over the fair value of net assets acquired of $1.2 billion was
assigned to identifiable intangibles of $635 million in the Indemnity,
Administrative Services Only and Specialty businesses consisting of
employer group contracts and the supporting infrastructure, distribution networks and institutional knowledge being amortized over
periods ranging from 10 years to 40 years, with the remaining $560
million assigned to goodwill being amortized over 40 years.
( 4 ) S p e c i a l O p e r at i n g C h a r g e s
Operational Realignment and Other Charges
In conjunction with our operational realignment initiatives, we
developed and, in the second quarter of 1998, approved a
comprehensive plan (the Plan) to implement our operational
realignment. We recognized corresponding charges to opera-

tions of $725 million in the quarter, which reflect the
estimated costs we will incur under the Plan. The charges
included costs associated with asset impairments; employee
terminations; disposing of or discontinuing business units,
product lines and contracts; and consolidating and eliminating
certain processing operations and associated real estate obligations. These activities will result in a net reduction of more
than 4,000 positions affecting 6,000 people in various
locations. Through December 31, 1998, we have eliminated
approximately 2,000 positions pursuant to the Plan.
Our original provision for operational realignment and other
charges was developed based on management’s best judgement
and estimates at that time. As we began to execute the Plan, we
adjusted certain estimates based on more current information
related to the amounts to be paid for severance and lease cancellation fees. In addition, based on continuing negotiations related
to business dispositions, our original estimates for asset impairments and business disposition costs were revised. In total, our
Operational Realignment and Other Charges did not change.
The following table summarizes the components of the operational realignment and other charges for the year ended
December 31, 1998 (in millions):
Recorded
Provision

Provision for operational
realignment and
other charges:
Asset Impairments
$ 430
Severance and
outplacement costs
142
Noncancelable lease
obligations
82
Dispositions of business
and other costs
71
Total provision

$ 725

Additional
Charges
(Credits)

21

Charges
Cash

$

Incurred Accrual at
Noncash Year-End

–

$ (451) $

(20)

(19)

–

103

(9)

(6)

–

67

–

66

8

(13)

–

$ (38)

–

$ (451) $ 236

The asset impairments consist principally of goodwill and
other long-lived assets, including fixed assets, computer hardware
and software and leasehold improvements, from: 1) businesses we
intend to dispose of or discontinue, 2) markets where we plan to
curtail our operations or change the nature of our operating
presence, or 3) the allocation of the purchase price for the acquisition of Medicode.
Businesses we intend to dispose of include our managed
workers’ compensation business, and medical and behavioral
health provider clinics. Markets where we plan to curtail or make
changes to our operating presence include our small group health
insurance business and three health plan markets that are in nonstrategic locations. We prepared a forecast of expected undiscounted cash flows, where appropriate, to determine whether asset
impairments existed. We used discounted cash flows to determine
the fair value and measure the write-downs for two of the three
health plans. We estimated proceeds on the sale of the managed
workers’ compensation, small group health insurance, clinical and
other health plan businesses in order to determine the fair value
and amount of asset write-down for these businesses. The final

allocation of the purchase price for the acquisition of Medicode
was based on an independent valuation. The asset impairments
also consist of other operating assets written down to their net
realizable value as a result of operational realignment activities.
The carrying value of the net assets held for sale or disposal was
approximately $20 million as of December 31, 1998.
Our accompanying financial statements include the operating
results of businesses to be disposed of or discontinued in
connection with the operational realignment. The losses anticipated
on the disposition of these businesses, including severance,
impairment of assets, abandoned facilities and additional exit costs,
represent approximately $175 million and are included in the $725
million of operational realignment and other charges. Our accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations include revenues
and operating losses from these businesses as follows (in millions):
Year Ended
December 31,

Revenues
Loss Before Income Taxes

1998

1997

$ 674
$ (31)

$ 644
$ (31)

The table above does not include operating results from the
counties where we will be withdrawing our health plan Medicare
product offerings effective January 1, 1999. Annual revenues for
1998 from the Medicare counties we are exiting were approximately $225 million.
The operational realignment charges do not cover certain
aspects of the Plan, including new information systems, data conversions, process re-engineering, and employee relocation and
training. These costs will be charged to expense as incurred or
capitalized, as appropriate.
Medical Costs
During the second quarter of 1998, we recorded $175 million
of medical cost charges. Of this amount, $101 million related
to Medicare contract losses, $19 million related to other
increases to Medicare medical costs payable estimates, and $55
million related to increases to commercial medical costs
payable estimates.
The $101 million of contract losses were incurred in 13 of
our 24 Medicare markets. These plans contribute half of our
annual Medicare premiums of $2.4 billion. Six of these markets
are generally newer markets where we have been unable to
achieve the scale of operations necessary to achieve profitability.
In numerous counties in the seven other markets, we experienced
increased medical costs which exceeded the fixed Medicare
premiums that only increased 2.5 % on average. We incurred $38
million of these Medicare losses during the second quarter and
accrued $63 million at June 30, 1998, to cover estimated future
losses to be incurred in the third and fourth quarters. We actually
incurred $73 million of losses in the third and fourth quarters,
and we recorded the additional $10 million as medical costs in the
fourth quarter.
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(5) MetraHealth Restructuring Charges
In connection with our acquisition of The MetraHealth
Companies, Inc. (MetraHealth) in 1995, we developed a comprehensive plan to integrate the business activities of the combined
companies (the Plan). The Plan included, among other things,
the disposition, discontinuance and restructuring of certain
businesses and product lines, and the recognition of certain asset
impairments. In the fourth quarter of 1995, we recorded $154
million in restructuring charges associated with the Plan.
In conjunction with ongoing integration efforts, we modified
the Plan during 1996. The restructuring reserves established with
the original Plan were an accurate estimation of the costs
incurred; however, we needed to reallocate the reserve estimates
among the associated activities as the original Plan evolved.
A reconciliation of MetraHealth restructuring activities for
the years ended December 31 is as follows (in millions):
Balance at beginning of year

1998

1997

1996

1995

$ 11

$ 28

$ 141

$ –

–
–

–
–

(10)
3

24
58

–
–

–
–

7
–

20
52

–
(4)

(3)
(9)

(9)
(39)

(2)
(9)

(7)

(5)

(13)

(2)

–

–

(52)

–

–

$ 11

Provision for restructuring costs:
Severance and Outplacement
Contract Terminations
Noncancelable Lease
Obligations
Asset Impairments
Cash Payments:
Severance and Outplacement
Contract Terminations
Noncancelable Lease
Obligations
Noncash Activities
Property, Equipment and
Software Write-downs
Balance at end of year

$

$ 28

$141

(6) Provision for Future Losses
In the second quarter of 1996, we recorded a provision to
medical costs of $45 million to cover estimated losses we
expected to incur through the remaining terms of two large
contracts in our St. Louis health plan. One of the contracts
expired in December 1998 and contained a premium rate
increase cap of 2.5% per year. The other contract expires in
December 2000 and generally limits premium rate increases
to annual Consumer Price Index adjustments. As of December
31, 1998, there were approximately 35,000 members under
this contract.
Our estimate of future revenues and losses under these
contracts is as follows (in millions):
Revenues

1999 estimate
2000 estimate

$ 59
$ 61

Losses

$ (6)
$ (7)

We believe the remaining balance in the accrual for future
losses of $13 million, which is included in medical costs
payable in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets,
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will be sufficient to cover expected future losses from the
remaining contract.
( 7 ) A m e r i c a n A s s o c i at i o n o f R e t i r e d P e r s o n s
On January 1, 1998, we entered into a ten-year contract to provide
insurance products and services to members of the AARP. Under
the terms of the contract, we are compensated for claims administration and other services as well as for assuming underwriting
risk. We are also engaged in product development activities to
complement the insurance offerings under this program. The
AARP has also contracted with certain other vendors to provide
other member and marketing services. We report premium
revenues associated with the AARP program net of the administrative fees paid to these vendors and an administrative allowance
we pay to the AARP.
Our underwriting results related to the AARP business are
recorded as an increase or decrease to a rate stabilization fund
(RSF). The RSF is included in other policy liabilities in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The primary components
of our underwriting results are premium revenue, medical costs,
investment income, administrative expenses, member service
expenses, marketing expenses and premium taxes. To the extent
we incur underwriting losses that exceed the balance in the RSF,
we would be required to fund the deficit. Any deficit we fund
could be recovered by underwriting gains in future periods of the
contract. The RSF balance was $192 million as of January 1, 1998,
and is $509 million as of December 31, 1998. We believe the RSF
balance is sufficient to cover any potential future underwriting or
other risks associated with the contract.
We assumed the policy and other liabilities related to the
AARP program and received cash and premiums receivables
from the previous insurance carrier equal to the carrying value of
the liabilities assumed as of January 1, 1998. The following assets
and liabilities were transferred from the program’s previous
carrier and are included in our Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in millions):

Assets Under Management
Accounts Receivable
Medical Costs Payable
Other Policy Liabilities
Accounts Payable and Accrued Liabilities

Amounts
Transferred
as of
January 1,
1998

Balance
as of
December
31,
1998

$ 959
$ 300
$ 1,024
$ 192
$ 43

$ 1,155
$ 287
$ 830
$ 509
$ 103

The effect of changes in balance sheet amounts associated with
the AARP program accrue to the AARP policyholders through the
RSF balance. Accordingly, we do not include the effect of such
changes in our Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.

(8) Cash and Investments
As of December 31, 1998 and 1997, the amortized cost, gross unrealized holding gains and losses, and fair value of cash and investments were as follows (in millions):
1998

Amortized Cost

Cash and Cash Equivalents

$ 1,644

Investments Available for Sale
U.S. Government and Agencies
State and State Agencies
Municipalities
Corporate
Other
Total Investments Available for Sale
Investments Held to Maturity
U.S. Government and Agencies
State and State Agencies
Municipalities
Corporate
Other
Total Investments Held to Maturity
Total Cash and Investments

Gross Unrealized
Holding Gains

$

–

Gross Unrealized
Holding Losses

$

–

Fair Value

$ 1,644

668
675
535
628
105

10
27
20
10
6

–
–
–
(2)
–

678
702
555
636
111

2,611

73

(2)

2,682

53
16
1
17
11

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

53
16
1
17
11

98

–

–

98

$ 4,353

$

73

$

(2)

$

$

–

$

–

$ 4,424

1997
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Investments Available for Sale
U.S. Government and Agencies
State and State Agencies
Municipalities
Corporate
Other
Total Investments Available for Sale
Investments Held to Maturity
U.S. Government and Agencies
State and State Agencies
Municipalities
Corporate
Other
Total Investments Held to Maturity

750

750

685
775
845
439
435

9
17
18
6
–

(3)
–
–
–
–

691
792
863
445
435

3,179

50

(3)

3,226

38
2
1
18
6

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

65

Total Cash and Investments

$

$ 3,994

–
$

50

–
$

(3)

38
2
1
18
6
65
$ 4,041

As of December 31, 1998, the contractual maturities of cash and cash equivalents and investments were as follows (in millions):
Years to Maturity

Less Than
One Year

One to
Five Years

At Amortized Cost:
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Investments Available for Sale
Investments Held to Maturity

$ 1,644
139
30

$

–
891
60

$

–
716
7

$

–
865
1

$ 1,644
2,611
98

$ 1,813

$

951

$

723

$

866

$ 4,353

$ 1,644
140
30

$

–
910
60

$

–
744
7

$

–
888
1

$ 1,644
2,682
98

$ 1,814

$

970

$

751

$

889

$ 4,424

Total Cash and Investments
At Fair Value:
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Investments Available for Sale
Investments Held to Maturity
Total Cash and Investments

More Than Five to
Ten Years

More Than
Ten Years

Total

Mortgage-backed securities that do not have a single maturity date have been presented in the above tables based on their estimated
maturity dates.
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Gross realized gains of $31 million, $37 million, and
$10 million and gross realized losses of $5 million, $11 million,
and $6 million were recognized in 1998, 1997 and 1996,
respectively, and are included in investment and other income
in the accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations.
(9) Debt
In November 1998, we issued $650 million of unsecured notes
payable at a weighted-average interest rate of 6.0%. The debt
placement consisted of $400 million in unsecured notes due
December 1, 1999, with an interest rate of 5.65% and $250
million in unsecured notes due December 1, 2003, with an
interest rate of 6.65%.
In December 1998, we also established a $600 million
commercial paper program, thereby providing increased flexibility in managing our capital structure. At December 31, 1998,
we had $59 million in commercial paper borrowings outstanding
at an average interest rate of 5.3%.
In support of our commercial paper program, we entered into
a $600 million credit arrangement with a group of banks. The
agreement is comprised of a $300 million five-year revolving credit
facility and a $300 million 364-day credit facility. No borrowings
were outstanding as of December 31, 1998, under the credit facilities. Debt consists of the following as of December 31, 1998:
(in millions)

5.65% Senior Unsecured
Note due December 1999
6.65% Senior Unsecured
Note due December 2003
Commercial Paper

Less: Current Portion
Total Long-Term Debt

Par Value

Carrying
Value

$ 400

$ 400

250
60

249
59

710

708

(460)

(459)

$ 250

$ 249

The Company’s debt arrangements and credit facilities
contain various covenants, the most restrictive of which place
limitations on secured and unsecured borrowings and require
the Company to exceed minimum interest coverage levels. As of
December 31, 1998, we are well within the requirements of all
debt covenants.
Maturities of debt for the years ending December 31, are as
follows (in millions):
1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

$ 459

$–

$–

$–

$ 249

The carrying value of the Company’s outstanding debt
approximates its fair value at December 31, 1998.
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(10) Convertible Preferred Stock
In December 1998, we redeemed all 500,000 outstanding
shares of 5.75% Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (the
Preferred Stock). The Preferred Stock was issued to certain
former shareholders of MetraHealth as a portion of the total
consideration of our 1995 acquisition of MetraHealth. The
redemption price per share of stock was $1,040 per share, or
$520 million in the aggregate, which included a redemption
premium of $40 per share, or $20 million in the aggregate. The
redemption premium of $20 million is deducted from net
earnings (loss) to arrive at net earnings (loss) applicable to
common shareholders in the accompanying Consolidated
Statements of Operations.
(11) Shareholders’ Equity
Regulatory Capital and Dividend Restrictions
The Company’s operations are conducted through United
HealthCare Corporation, its wholly-owned subsidiary United
HealthCare Services, Inc. and their respective subsidiaries,
which consist principally of Health Maintenance
Organizations (HMOs) and insurance companies. HMOs and
insurance companies are subject to state regulations that,
among other things, may require the maintenance of
minimum levels of statutory capital, as defined by each state,
and restrict the timing and amount of dividends and other
distributions that may be paid to their respective parent
companies. Generally, the amount of dividend distributions
that may be paid by regulated insurance and HMO
companies, without prior approval by state regulatory authorities, is limited based on the entity’s level of statutory net
income and statutory capital and surplus.
As of December 31, 1998, the Company’s regulated
subsidiaries had aggregate statutory capital and surplus of
approximately $1.4 billion, compared with their aggregate
minimum statutory capital and surplus requirements of $390
million. The amount of dividends that may be paid to the
Company or United HealthCare Services, Inc. by their insurance
and HMO subsidiaries at December 31, 1998, without prior
approval by state regulatory authorities, is limited to approximately $120 million. There are no such restrictions on distributions from United HealthCare Services, Inc. to the Company or
on distributions from the Company to its shareholders.

The National Association of Insurance Commissioners has
adopted rules which, to the extent that they are implemented by
the states, will set new minimum capitalization requirements for
insurance companies, HMOs, and other entities bearing risk for
health care coverage. The requirements take the form of riskbased capital rules. The change in rules for insurance companies
was effective December 31, 1998. The new HMO rules are subject
to state-by-state adoption, but few states had adopted the rules as
of December 31, 1998. The HMO rules, if adopted by the states in
their proposed form, would significantly increase the capital
required for certain of our subsidiaries. However, we believe we
can redeploy capital among our regulated entities to minimize
the need for incremental capital investment of general corporate
financial resources into regulated subsidiaries. As such, we do not
anticipate a significant impact on our aggregate capital or investments in regulated subsidiaries.

Dividends
On February 16, 1999, the board of directors approved an
annual dividend for 1999 of $0.03 per share payable on April
15, 1999, to holders of common stock as of close of business
April 1, 1999.
( 1 2 ) S t o c k - B a s e d C o m p e n s at i o n P l a n s
We have stock and incentive plans (the Stock Plans) for the
benefit of eligible employees. As of December 31, 1998,
the Stock Plans allowed for the future granting of up
to 5 million shares as incentive or non-qualified stock options,
stock appreciation rights, restricted stock awards, and performance awards to employees.
In 1995, we adopted the Non-employee Director Stock
Option Plans (the 1995 Plan) to benefit members of the board of
directors who are not employees. As of December 31, 1998, 34,000
shares were available for future grants of non-qualified stock
options under the 1995 Plan.
Stock options are generally granted at an exercise price not
less than the fair market value of the common stock at the date of
grant. They may be exercised over varying periods up to 10 years
from the date of grant.

Stock Repurchase Program
Pursuant to a board of directors’ authorization, we are operating
an 18.7 million share common stock repurchase program.
These repurchases may be made from time to time at prevailing
prices, subject to certain restrictions on volume, pricing and
timing. During 1998, we repurchased 11.3 million shares for an
aggregate cost of $436 million, an average cost of approximately $40 per share.

A summary of the activity under our Stock Plans and the 1995 Plan during 1998, 1997 and 1996 is presented in the table below
(shares in thousands):
1998

Shares

1997
Weighted Average
Exercise
Price

Outstanding at beginning of year
Granted
Issued in acquisition
Exercised
Forfeited

17,113
5,847
–
(3,379)
(1,207)

$
$
$
$
$

Outstanding at end of year

18,374

Exercisable at end of year

6,725

34
39
–
23
39

1996
Weighted Average
Exercise
Price

Shares

16,894
4,366
507
(3,095)
(1,559)

$
$
$
$
$

$ 37

17,113

$ 33

6,702

Weighted Average
Exercise
Price

Shares

29
44
4
20
35

14,927
4,125
–
(1,336)
(822)

$
$
$
$
$

28
33
–
19
33

$ 34

16,894

$ 29

$ 28

6,914

$ 23

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 1998 (shares in thousands):
Options Outstanding

Options Exercisable

Number
Outstanding

Weighted-Average
Remaining
Option Term (years)

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price

Number
Exercisable

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price

$ 0 - $22
$23 - $35
$36 - $46
$47 - $55
$56 - $73

1,672
7,364
6,099
3,156
83

3.8
8.0
7.7
8.2
9.2

$ 13
$ 33
$ 42
$ 50
$ 66

1,491
2,265
2,041
888
40

$ 14
$ 31
$ 41
$ 49
$ 73

$ 0 - $73

18,374

7.6

$ 37

6,725

$ 33

Range of Exercise Prices
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We increased additional paid-in capital $47 million in 1998,
$37 million in 1997, and $15 million in 1996 to reflect the tax
benefit we received upon the exercise of non-qualified stock
options.
We do not recognize compensation expense in connection
with stock option grants because we grant stock options at
exercise prices that equal or exceed the fair market value of the
stock at the time options are granted. If we had determined
compensation expense using fair market values for stock options
granted, net earnings (loss) would have been reduced to the
following pro forma amounts:
1998

Net Earnings (Loss) (in millions)
As Reported
Pro Forma

$ (166)
$(206)

1997

1996

$ 460
$ 430

$ 356
$ 332

Diluted Net Earnings (Loss) Per
Common Share
As Reported
Pro Forma

$(1.12)
$(1.33)

$ 2.26
$ 2.10

$ 1.76
$ 1.63

Weighted-Average Fair Value Per Share
of Options Granted

$

$

$ 23

16

25

To determine compensation cost under the fair value
method, the fair value of each option grant is estimated on the
date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.
Principal assumptions used in applying the Black-Scholes
model were as follows:
Risk-Free Interest Rate
Expected Volatility
Expected Dividend Yield
Expected Life in Years

1998

1997

1996

5.2%
46%
0.1%
5.8

6.0%
56%
0.1%
5.6

6.6%
57%
0.1%
5.0

Because we did not apply the fair value method of accounting
to options granted prior to January 1, 1995, the resulting pro
forma compensation cost may not be representative of what can
be expected in future years.
Employee Stock Ownership Plan
We have a non-leveraged Employee Stock Ownership Plan (the
ESOP) for the benefit of all eligible employees. Company contributions to the ESOP are made at the discretion of the board of
directors. We made contributions to the ESOP of $4 million in
1998, $4 million in 1997, and $3 million in 1996.
Employee Stock Purchase Plan
The Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the ESPP) allows all
eligible employees to purchase shares of common stock on
semiannual offering dates at a price that is the lesser of 85% of
the fair market value of the shares on the first day or the last
day of the semiannual period. Employee contributions were
$19 million for 1998, $17 million for 1997, and $16 million for

44

1996. Through the ESPP, we issued to employees 206,000
shares in 1998, 422,000 in 1997, and 392,000 shares in 1996. As
of December 31, 1998, 3.0 million shares were available for
future issuance.
( 1 3 ) I n c o m e Ta x e s
Components of the Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes
Year Ended December 31, (in millions)

Current
Federal
State
Total Current
Deferred
Total Provision

1998

1997

1996

$ 273
31

$ 171
20

$ 159
18

191
91

177
48

$ 282

$ 225

304
(184)
$ 120

Reconciliation of the Tax Provision at the U.S. Federal
Statutory Rate to the Provision for Income Taxes
Year Ended December 31, (in millions)

Tax Provision (Benefit) at
U.S. Federal statutory rate
State income taxes,
net of federal benefit
Tax-Exempt investment income
Non-deductible asset
impairments and amortization
Non-deductible losses
and expenses
Other, net
Provision for Income Taxes

1998

$ (16)

1997

1996

$ 259

$ 203

19
(25)

21
(21)

14
(11)

124

21

18

12
6

7
(5)

2
(1)

$ 120

$ 282

$ 225

Components of Deferred Income Tax Assets and Liabilities
December 31, (in millions)

1998

1997

$ 138
13

$ 23
9

22
51
68
7
34
8

22
10
19
3
6
2

Subtotal
Less: Valuation allowance

341
(34)

94
(6)

Total Deferred Income Tax Assets

307

88

Deferred Income Tax Assets
Accrued operational realignment and other
charges, and restructuring reserves
Bad debt allowance
Medical costs payable and
other policy liabilities
Loss reserve discounting
Unearned premiums
Intangible amortization
Net operating loss carryforwards
Other

Deferred Income Tax Liabilities
Capitalized software development
Depreciation
Unrealized gains on investments
available for sale
Other

(31)
(12)

(19)
–

(23)
(2)

(18)
(10)

Total Deferred Income Tax Liabilities

(68)

(47)

Net Deferred Income Tax Assets

$ 239

$ 41

Valuation allowances are provided when it is considered
unlikely that deferred tax assets will be realized. The valuation
allowance relates to future tax benefits on certain purchased
domestic and foreign net operating losses.
We paid income taxes of $245 million in 1998, $124 million in
1997, and $96 million in 1996.
Consolidated income tax returns for fiscal years 1995 and
1994 were examined by the Internal Revenue Service (IRS). The
audit was concluded with no material impact on our consolidated
operating results or financial position.
Consolidated income tax returns for fiscal years 1997 and
1996 are currently being examined by the IRS. We do not believe
any adjustments that may result will have a material effect on our
consolidated operating results or financial position.
(14) Commitments and Contingencies
Leases
We lease facilities, computer hardware and other equipment
under long-term operating leases that are noncancelable and
expire on various dates through 2011. Rent expense under all
operating leases was $119 million in 1998, $104 million in
1997, and $114 million in 1996.
At December 31, 1998, future minimum annual lease
payments under all noncancelable operating leases were as
follows (in millions):
1999

2000

2001

2002

2003

Thereafter

$105

$ 88

$70

$ 52

$ 37

$ 157

Service Agreements
In June 1996 and November 1995, we entered into separate 10year contracts with nonaffiliated third parties for information
technology services. Under the terms of the contracts, the third
parties assumed responsibility for certain data center operations and support. In September 1996, we entered into a 10year contract with a third party for certain data network and
voice communication services. Future payments under all of
these contracts are estimated to be $1.3 billion; however, the
actual timing and amount of payments will vary based on
usage. Expenses incurred in connection with these agreements
were $162 million in 1998, $125 million in 1997, and $70
million in 1996.
Legal Proceedings
Six suits assert claims under the United States securities laws
against UnitedHealth Group and certain of its current and
former officers and directors. The plaintiffs are shareholders of
the Company who purport to sue on behalf of a class of
purchasers of the Company’s common shares during the
period February 12, 1998, through August 5, 1998 (the “Class
Period”). Each complaint was filed in the United States District
Court for the District of Minnesota. Each of the six actions
claims violations of Sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act and SEC Rule 10b-5. In substance,

the complaints allege that the Company made materially false
or misleading statements about the profitability and performance of the Company’s Medicare business during the Class
Period. Two of the complaints also allege that the Company
made materially false statements about its medical costs and
the expenses related to its realignment. The complaints also
allege that the statements were made with the intention of
deceiving members of the investing public and with the
intention that the price of the Company’s shares would rise,
making it possible for insiders at the Company to profit by
selling shares at a time when they knew the Company’s true
financial condition, but the investing public did not. The
complaints allege that once the Company’s true financial
condition was revealed on August 6, 1998, the price of its
common shares fell from a closing price of $52 7⁄ 8 per share on
August 5, 1998, to a closing price of $37 7⁄ 8 per share on August
6, 1998. The complaints seek compensatory damages in
unspecified amounts.
On January 19, 1999, we received a consolidated amended
complaint (In re United HealthCare Corporation Securities
Litigation, No. 98-1888 in the United States District Court for the
District of Minnesota) for the six suits which essentially restates
the allegations made in the earlier complaints.
On March 22, 1999, two actions were filed in the United
States District Court for the District of Minnesota by two pension
funds against UnitedHealth Group, certain current and former
officers and directors, and other individuals yet to be identified.
The pension funds wish to “opt-out” of the aforementioned
purported class actions suits. These individual actions essentially
restate the allegations made in the purported class actions and
claim violations of Sections 18(a) and 20 of the Securities
Exchange Act. In addition, both actions assert a claim of
negligent misrepresentation and securities claims under state
law. In the aggregate, the plaintiff pension funds seek compensatory damages totaling approximately $12.1 million.
We intend to defend these actions vigorously.
We are also involved in other legal actions that arise in the
ordinary course of business. Although we cannot predict
outcomes of legal actions, it is our opinion that the resolution of
all currently pending or threatened actions, including the class
action lawsuit described above, will not have an adverse effect on
our consolidated financial position or results of operations.
Business Risks
Certain factors relating to the health care industry and our
business should be carefully considered. Companies offering
health care coverage and health care management services are
heavily regulated at federal and state levels. While we cannot
predict regulatory changes or their impact, it is possible that
operations and financial results could be negatively affected.
After several years of moderate increases in health care costs
and utilization, the industry experienced a pronounced increase
during 1996. Although the rate of these increases appears to have
stabilized, there is no assurance that health care costs and
45

rized by the board of directors. This policy limits the amounts
that may be invested in any one issuer. Concentrations of credit
risk with respect to commercial premiums receivable are
limited to the large number of employer groups that comprise
our customer base. As of December 31, 1998, there were no
significant concentrations of credit risk.

utilization will not continue to increase at a more rapid pace. If they
do, we may not be able to meet our objective of maintaining price
increases at least sufficient to cover health care cost increases.
Additionally, the health care industry is highly competitive
and has seen significant consolidation over the past few years.
The current competitive markets in certain areas may limit our
ability to price products at appropriate levels. These competitive
factors may adversely affect our consolidated financial results.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
Since the date of the Company’s quarterly report filed on Form
10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 1998, no material
changes have occurred in the Company’s exposure to market
risk associated with our investments in market risk-sensitive
financial instruments. We do not believe that our risk of a loss
in future earnings or a decline in fair values or cash flow attributable to such investments is material.

Concentrations of Credit Risk
Investments in financial instruments such as marketable
securities and commercial premiums receivable may subject
UnitedHealth Group to concentrations of credit risk. Our
investments in marketable securities are managed by professional investment managers within an investment policy autho-

( 1 5 ) S e g m e n t F i n a n c i a l I n f o r m at i o n
Our accounting policies for our business segment operations are the same as those described in the Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies (see Note 2). Transactions between business segments are recorded at their estimated fair value, as if they were
purchased from or sold to third parties. All intersegment transactions are eliminated in consolidation. Generally accepted
accounting principles provide for the combined reporting of segments with similar economic characteristics. Accordingly, the
financial results of UnitedHealthcare and Ovations have been combined to form the Health Care Services segment in the tables
presented below (in millions):

Health Care
Services

1998

Specialized
Care
Services

Uniprise

Revenues – External Customers
Revenues – Intersegment
Investment and Other Income

$ 15,463
–
149

$

1,238
357
29

$

Total Revenues

$ 15,612

$

1,624

Earnings (Loss) From Operations
Total Assets
Net Assets1

$
$
$

$
$
$

Purchases of Property and Equipment
and Capitalized Software
Depreciation and Amortization

$
$

80
90

Revenues – External Customers
Revenues – Intersegment
Investment and Other Income

Ingenix

274
339
5

$

$

618

10
1,592
1024

$
$
$

$
$

93
59

$ 10,103
–
106

$

Total Revenues

$ 10,209

Earnings From Operations
Total Assets
Net Assets1

$
$
$

Purchases of Property and Equipment
and Capitalized Software
Depreciation and Amortization

$
$

Corporate
and Eliminations

131
52
1

$

$

184

14
231
89

$
$
$

$
$

27
14

1,182
297
11

$

$

1,490

379
4,038
2,066

$
$
$

80
78

$
$

(46)
6,585
2,428

Consolidated

–
(748)
65

$ 17,106
–
249

$

(683)

$ 17,355

(66)
472
388

$
$
$

46
555
555

$
$
$

(42)
9,435
4,484

$
$

10
22

$
$

–
–

$
$

210
185

255
291
3

$

23
59
1

$

$

549

$

83

159
1,533
1,094

$
$
$

92
208
116

$
$
$

79
54

$
$

23
12

$
$

1
1

1997
–
(647)
110

$ 11,563
–
231

$

(537)

$ 11,794

2
204
170

$
$
$

110
1,599
1,599

$
$
$

742
7,582
5,045

5
2

$
$

–
–

$
$

187
146

1
1

In 1998, total assets and net assets exclude, where applicable, debt of $708 million, income tax-related assets of $266 million, and income tax-related liabilities of $4 million. In 1997, total assets
and net assets exclude, where applicable, redeemable preferred stock of $500 million, income tax-related assets of $41 million, and income tax-related liabilities of $52 million.

1

Excluding the $725 million operational realignment and other charges and $175 million of charges related to contract losses
associated with certain medicare markets and other increase to commercial and Medicare medical costs payable estimates, 1998
earnings from operations were $503 million for Health Care Services, $161 million for Uniprise, $109 million for Specialized Care
Services, $20 million for Ingenix, and $65 million for Corporate and $858 million for consolidated UnitedHealth Group.
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( 1 6 ) Q ua r t e r ly F i n a n c i a l Data ( u n au d i t e d )
The following is a summary of unaudited quarterly results of operations for the years ended December 31, 1998 and 1997
(in millions, except per share data):
Quarters Ended
March 31

1998
Revenues
Operating Expenses
Net Earnings (Loss)
Net Earnings (Loss) Applicable to Common Shareholders
Basic Net Earnings (Loss) per Common Share
Diluted Net Earnings (Loss) per Common Share

$
$
$
$
$
$

1997
Revenues
Operating Expenses
Net Earnings
Net Earnings Applicable to Common Shareholders
Basic Net Earnings per Common Share
Diluted Net Earnings per Common Share

$ 2,851
$ 2,673
$ 109
$ 102
$ 0.55
$ 0.54

4,115
3,906
132
125
0.65
0.63

June 30

September 30

December 31

$ 4,235
$ 4,914
$ (565)
$ (572)1
$ (2.96)
$ (2.96)1

$ 4,360
$ 4,146
$ 135
$ 128
$ 0.67
$ 0.66

$
$
$
$
$
$

4,645
4,431
132
106 2
0.57
0.57 2

$
$
$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$
$
$

3,054
2,862
119
112
0.59
0.58

2,931
2,746
116
108
0.58
0.57

2,958
2,771
116
109
0.58
0.57

Includes $725 million of operational realignment and other charges and $175 million of charges related to contact losses associated with certain Medicare markets and other increases to commercial and
Medicare medical costs payable estimates. Excluding these charges, net earnings applicable to common shareholders would have been $132 million, or $0.66 diluted net earnings per common share.
Includes $20 million convertible preferred stock redemption premium. Excluding the effects of the convertible preferred stock redemption premium, net earnings applicable to common shareholders
would have been $125 million, or $0.67 diluted net earnings per common share.

1

2
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Report of Independent
Public Accountants

Report of Management

To the Shareholders and Directors of UnitedHealth Group:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets of UnitedHealth Group and its corporate entity, United
HealthCare Corporation (a Minnesota Corporation), and
Subsidiaries as of December 31, 1998 and 1997, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 1998. These financial statements
are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We
believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above
present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
UnitedHealth Group and Subsidiaries as of December 31, 1998
and 1997, and the results of their operations and their cash flows
for each of the three years in the period ended December 31,
1998, in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles.

The management of UnitedHealth Group is responsible for
the integrity and objectivity of the consolidated financial information contained in this annual report. The consolidated
financial statements and related information were prepared
according to generally accepted accounting principles and
include some amounts that are based on management’s best
estimates and judgements.
To meet its responsibility, management depends on its
accounting systems and related internal accounting controls.
These systems are designed to provide reasonable assurance, at
an appropriate cost, that financial records are reliable for use in
preparing financial statements and that assets are safeguarded.
Qualified personnel throughout the organization maintain and
monitor these internal accounting controls on an ongoing basis.
Internal auditors review the accounting practices, systems of
internal control and compliance with these practices and
controls.
The Audit Committee of the board of directors, composed
entirely of directors who are not employees of the Company,
meets periodically and privately with the Company’s
independent public accountants and its internal auditors, as well
as management, to review accounting, auditing, internal control,
financial reporting and other matters.

ARTHUR ANDERSEN LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota,
February 18, 1999
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William W. McGuire, M.D.
President, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Stephen J. Hemsley
Chief Operating Officer
Arnold H. Kaplan
Chief Financial Officer

Corporate and Business Leaders

UnitedHealth Group

UnitedHealthcare

Specialized Care Services

William W. McGuire, M.D.*
President, Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer

Jeannine M. Rivet
Chief Executive Officer

Ronald B. Colby
Chief Executive Officer

Robert J. Sheehy
Chief Operating Officer

Susan Porth
Chief Financial Officer

William A. Munsell
Chief Administrative and
Financial Officer

Saul Feldman, D.P.A.
Chief Executive Officer
United Behavioral Health

Uniprise

R. Edward Bergmark, Ph.D.
Chief Executive Officer
Optum®

Stephen J. Hemsley*
Chief Operating Officer
Arnold H. Kaplan*
Chief Financial Officer
David J. Lubben*
Corporate Secretary and
General Counsel
Robert J. Backes
Senior Vice President
Human Resources
Paul F. LeFort
Chief Information Officer

R. Channing Wheeler
Chief Executive Officer
Girish V. Nadkarni
Chief Operating Officer
Eugene C. Cavanaugh
Chief Financial Officer
Tracy L. Bahl
President, Uniprise Strategic
Solutions

David J. McLean, Ph.D.
Chief Executive Officer
United Resource Networks

Ingenix
Kevin H. Roché
Chief Executive Officer
Kevin W. Pearson
Chief Operating Officer

Ovations
Lois Quam
Chief Executive Officer
Leonard A. Farr
Chief Operating Officer

Unimerica
Ronald B. Colby
Chief Executive Officer

UnitedHealth Capital
Bernard F. McDonagh
Chief Operating Officer and
General Partner, Validus Partners

*Denotes corporate officer
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Board of Directors

William C. Ballard, Jr.
Of Counsel,
Greenbaum, Doll & McDonald
Louisville, Kentucky, law firm

Richard T. Burke
Chief Executive Officer
and Governor
Phoenix Coyotes
National Hockey League Team

James A. Johnson
Chairman of the Executive
Committee
Fannie Mae
Diversified financial services company

Thomas H. Kean
President, Drew University
Douglas W. Leatherdale
Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer
The Saint Paul Companies, Inc.

William W. McGuire, M.D.
President, Chairman and
Chief Executive Officer
UnitedHealth Group

Audit Committee

Executive Committee

James A. Johnson

William C. Ballard, Jr.

Douglas W. Leatherdale

Douglas W. Leatherdale

Mary O. Mundinger
Dean and Centennial Professor
of Health Policy, School of
Nursing, and Associate Dean,
Faculty of Medicine
Columbia University

Walter F. Mondale

William W. McGuire, M.D.

Gail R. Wilensky

William G. Spears

Compensation and Stock
Option Committee

Nominating Committee

Robert L. Ryan
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
Medtronic, Inc.

Thomas H. Kean

Minneapolis, Minnesota, law firm
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Mary O. Mundinger
Robert L. Ryan

Medical devices company

William G. Spears
William G. Spears
Chairman of the Board
Spears, Benzak, Salomon &
Farrell, Inc.
New York City-based investment
counseling and management firm

Insurance and related services

Walter F. Mondale
Partner, Dorsey & Whitney LLP

William C. Ballard, Jr.

Gail R. Wilensky
Senior Fellow
Project HOPE
International health foundation

William C. Ballard, Jr.
Douglas W. Leatherdale
William W. McGuire, M.D.
William G. Spears

Corporate Profile
UnitedHealth Group is a diversified health and well-being
company that offers products and services through five primary
operating companies:
UnitedHealthcare
UnitedHealthcare operates locally based organized health
systems, serving commercial, Medicare and Medicaid populations, in more than 40 major markets nationally and provides
consulting services in selected international markets.
Ovations
Ovations provides health and well-being services to Americans
age 50 and older, including Medicare supplement insurance,
hospital indemnity coverage and pharmacy services for
members of the health insurance program of the American
Association of Retired Persons. Ovations also provides health
services for frail, elderly nursing home residents through
EverCare.®

Uniprise
Uniprise provides benefits planning and implementation, as
well as administrative, customer and member support services
for large, multi-site employers.
Specialized Care Services
Specialized Care Services arranges and offers benefits, networks
of health care providers, and services focused on highly
specialized health care needs, including employee assistance/
counseling programs, mental health/substance abuse services,
solid organ transplant programs and related services, 24-hour
health information services and publications.
Ingenix
Ingenix provides knowledge and information products and
services including consulting services, pharmaceutical services,
publications products and software, data and services to health
care providers, payers, pharmaceutical companies, device
manufacturers and government institutions.

Investor Information
Corporate Headquarters
UnitedHealth Group
300 Opus Center
9900 Bren Road East
Minnetonka, Minnesota 55343
Investor Relations
John S. Penshorn
Capital Markets Communications and Strategies
UnitedHealth Group
P.O. Box 1459, Route MN008-W213
Minneapolis, Minnesota 55440-1459
Independent Public Accountants
Arthur Andersen LLP
Minneapolis, Minnesota
Corporate Counsel
Dorsey & Whitney LLP
Minneapolis, Minnesota

de s ig n an d de v el op m e nt , ku es t e r part ne r s , inc . , m in ne ap ol i s

Transfer Agent & Registrar
Norwest Bank Minnesota, N.A.
Minneapolis, Minnesota

The following table shows the range of high and low sales prices
for the Company stock as reported on the New York Stock
Exchange Composite Tape for the calendar periods indicated
through February 26, 1999. These prices do not include
commissions or fees associated with the purchase or sale of this
security.
High

Low

1999
First Quarter 1999
Through February 26, 1999

$

49.50

$ 39.4375

1998
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

$ 66.8125
$ 73.9375
$ 66.50
$ 50.625

$ 46.5625
$ 61.25
$ 29.5625
$ 33.375

1997
First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

$ 55.25
$ 56.75
$ 60.125
$ 54.75

$ 42.625
$ 43.75
$ 47.875
$ 42.4375

As of February 26, 1999, the company had 13,111 shareholders of record.

Annual Meeting
The annual meeting of shareholders will be held at the Lutheran
Brotherhood Building, 625 Fourth Avenue South, Minneapolis,
Minnesota, on Wednesday, May 12, 1999, at 10 a.m.

Dividend Policy
The Company's dividend policy, established by its board of
directors in August 1990, requires the board to review the
Company's audited consolidated financial statements following
the end of each fiscal year and decide whether it is advisable to
declare a dividend on the outstanding shares of common stock.
Shareholders of record on April 3, 1997, received an annual
dividend for 1997 of $0.03 per share, and shareholders of record
on April 1, 1998, received an annual dividend for 1998 of $0.03
per share. On February 16, 1999, the Company's board of
directors approved an annual dividend for 1999 of $0.03 per
share to holders of the Company's common stock. The dividend
will be paid on April 15, 1999, to shareholders of record at the
close of business on April 1, 1999.

Stock Listing
The Company’s common stock is traded on the New York Stock
Exchange under the symbol UNH.

Internet Address
For information about UnitedHealth Group, visit our homepage via the Internet at www.unitedhealthgroup.com.

Form 10-K
The Company files an annual report with the Securities and
Exchange Commission on Form 10-K. Shareholders may obtain
a copy of this report, without charge, by writing:
Investor Relations
UnitedHealth Group
P.O. Box 1459, Route MN008-W213
Minneapolis, Minnesota 55440-1459
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